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Titanium Corporation’s Creating Value from Waste™ technology (CVW™) has been developed and 
demonstrated to efficiently intercept oil sands froth treatment tailings before they are deposited into 
tailings ponds, with the potential to significantly reduce climate changing greenhouse gas (GHG) 
methane emissions and other environmental impacts while recovering valuable heavy minerals , bitumen 
and solvents. The development of a new minerals industry once CVW™ is implemented has the 
potential to diversify Alberta’s economy and expand Canada’s international trade. With the Company’s 
“before pond” approach to tailings (illustrated below), it is anticipate that implementation of its CVW™ 
technology would result in both environmentally and economically sustainable solutions for froth 
treatment tailings.  
 
 

    
 
It is anticipated that recovered commodities will provide attractive economic returns while delivering 
environmental improvements to oil sands producers.  Based on our demonstration piloting and studies 
over the past several years, this would include: reducing GHG and VOC emissions from ponds and 
tailings; recycling hot water; reducing pond volumes and hazardous materials and accelerating pond 
remediation. By reducing bitumen and solvents entering the environment, the anticipated benefits could 
improve the health and welfare of people and reduce the impact on wildlife and the ecology.  The 
implementation of these new sustainable technologies has the potential to bolster Alberta and Canada’s 
reputation as a responsible developer of natural resources, and enhance potential opportunities both 
domestically and internationally to market oil sands products. We believe that our CVW™ technology is 
well aligned with Alberta’s Climate Leadership Plan, with the potential to reduce site-wide GHG 
emissions by up to 10% at mining oil sands sites (~1Mt CO2e per site). The majority of these emissions 
reductions are of methane, a more intensive GHG that has a Global Warming Potential (GWP) of 34 
times CO2 emissions over 100 years and 84 times over 20 years. The recent Alberta Climate Leadership 
Plan has a specific program target to reduce methane emissions by 45%.  
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Titanium has invested over $70 million and Governments have contributed an additional $12 million to 
develop this innovative technology which is now ready for implementation for the benefit of Canadians, 
our customers and shareholders.   
 
 
The Company wishes to gratefully acknowledge funding received from Sustainable Development 
Technology Canada (“SDTC”), the National Research Council Canada (“NRC”) and the Government of 
Alberta. 

    

  
 
The Company is an Associate Member of Canada’s Oil Sands Innovation Alliance (“COSIA”), a 
Member of the Alberta Chamber of Resources and The Canadian Chamber of Commerce. The 
Company’s shares are listed on the TSX Venture Exchange (“TSXV”) under the symbol “TIC”. 
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Over the past year, we have all witnessed dramatic changes that are impacting Canada, Alberta and our 
energy industry, particularly the oil sands sector. Low oil prices continued throughout 2015 (recently 
well below $40/bbl) due to an ongoing supply surplus and OPEC’s decision in mid-2014 to abandon 
market price management. An historic global climate agreement was reached in December among 196 
countries at COP 21 in Paris that aims to limit the increase in global temperatures to below 2 degrees 
Celsius. Alberta is now playing an active role along with the Federal Government in supporting global 
efforts aimed at addressing climate change. The Alberta Government announced a number of major new 
measures in its Alberta Climate Leadership Plan, which includes an economy wide carbon tax, a cap on 
oil sands emissions, individual oil sands site emissions measured against top quartile performance (with 
a $30 per tonne compliance fee) and a broad initiative to reduce global warming intensive methane 
emissions by 45%. 
 

We view the new Alberta Government initiatives as important catalysts for adoption of 
our technology.  
 

Adapting to these climate initiatives creates both challenges and opportunities. In the face of lower 
prices, the oil sands industry must significantly reduce costs and increase efficiency in order to compete 
with lower cost producers and generate economic returns. At the same time, the carbon intensity of oil 
sands products must be reduced, so it is not a barrier to expanding markets in North American and to 
entering new export markets abroad. Meeting the new Alberta Climate Plan objectives will require the 
development and implementation of a range of new technologies that reduce the oil sands industry’s 
GHG emissions. Technology solutions for oil sands processes involve many years and large investments 
in research and development to reach commercial readiness and then significant up-front capital 
investments for implementation and risk management. Both the Alberta and Federal Governments have 
announced programs that will provide incentives and funding for projects that reduce GHGs and climate 
change. Titanium actively participated in the Alberta Government panels set up to develop new climate, 
royalty and tailings management programs and prepared detailed submissions which are on our website. 
As Governments roll out the new regulations and funding programs in 2016, our Company will continue 
to be actively involved. 
 

In this changed landscape, our Company’s technology is well aligned with the new 
measures being taken to address climate change and the challenges of low oil prices.  
 

Our CVW™ technology is shovel-ready for implementation having completed the long R&D cycle. 
Based on our demonstration piloting and studies, our technology has been demonstrated to have the 
potential to reduce emissions, improve environmental performance and create economic value by 
recovering valuable minerals, lost bitumen and solvent from oil sands tailings. Based on third party 
engineering, additional bitumen that is being lost in tailings is expected to be recovered by our 
technology at an operating cost of less than $10/bbl and this bitumen incurs very little additional GHG 
emissions as it has already been mined and extracted.  
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In addition to the climate plan measures, the Alberta Government has plans to create economic growth, 
valued added processing, new jobs and economic diversification. We believe our technology aligns with 
all of these objectives including: potentially creating a new high value minerals industry and value 
added products from oil sands; new capital investments of approximately $400 million per site (over 
$1.5 billion industry wide); additional resource revenues from the recovery of lost bitumen  and solvents 
and associated royalties and taxes; several hundred new jobs in tailings and minerals processing with 
new opportunities for aboriginal businesses and employment; and new exports of minerals.  
 

Two independent expert studies have prioritized and cited Titanium’s technology as a 
solution to environmental issues caused by froth treatment tailings.  
 

The Canadian Counsel of Academies 2015 Expert Report to the Government of Canada “Technological 
Prospects for Reducing the Environmental Footprint of Canadian Oil Sands” and the “Oil Sands Tailings 
Technology Deployment Roadmap” 2012 report to Alberta Innovates-Energy and Environment 
Solutions and OSTC/COSIA identified methane, air pollutant emissions, acid generation and radioactive 
materials caused by froth treatment tailings as priority issues. The Counsel of Academies Report 
recommended that froth treatment tailings be kept out of tailings ponds and treated separately to reduce 
fugitive methane emissions, citing Titanium’s technology as having been developed to recover bitumen, 
solvent and minerals from these tailings.  
 

Over the course of the past year, we moved forward with commercialization of our 
technology, reaching a framework agreement with one of the oil sands operators and 
entering advanced project reviews and confidential due diligence with others.  
 

In October 2015, we announced agreements with Syncrude Canada which provide for the sharing of one 
of our oil recovery patents for implementation at Syncrude sites and a first right for the Company to 
propose projects for the commercial recovery of minerals. During the year, the Company was granted 
new patents for minerals and bitumen recovery technologies bringing total patent filings to 19 in all 
jurisdictions. The Company recently received final trademark rights for Creating Value from Waste™ 
and CVW™.  
 
To strengthen our balance sheet during commercialization, in October we arranged a $1.5 million, two 
year credit facility, injected $0.5 million into treasury through stock option exercises and issued RSU 
and DSU securities to officers and directors in lieu of $0.6 million in accrued cash compensation. G&A 
and other costs were reduced by $0.5 million from the prior year. To conserve the Company’s cash 
resources and better align our team with all shareholders, management is taking a significant portion of 
their compensation in the form of RSU securities and our directors are receiving all of their 
compensation in DSU securities.  
As we look forward to 2016, unprecedented policy transformation is underway to address climate 
change and there is a wide consensus that innovation and new sustainable technologies will play a 
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leading role in meeting this challenge. Governments are now much more focused on solutions and are 
putting in place programs to incentivize technology adoption by industry. Independent expert reports are 
recommending tailings treatment consistent with our technology. All of this is highly favorable as we 
continue to pursue commercialization.        
 
Finally, our Chairman, Gordon Pridham is retiring from the Board this year after nine years of service. 
The Board wishes to extend their thanks to him for his counsel and dedication. David Macdonald, one of 
our major shareholder’s and a director for the past four years, will step into the leadership role as 
Chairman. We wish to thank our shareholders who have supported our Company throughout the past 
year and during the long journey to successfully develop Creating Value from Waste™. 
 
 
 
Sincerely, 
 
 
 
Gordon Pridham                       Scott Nelson 
Chairman                                  President and Chief Executive Officer 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
Annual Meeting: The Company’s annual and special meeting will take place at 10:00am on February 
11, 2016 at the Toronto Board of Trade, 1 First Canadian Place, Suite 350, Toronto, Ontario. 
 
Head Office: 840 -6th Ave. SW, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 3E5 T: 403-718-2001 F: 403-770-8233 
 
Investor Relations: Scott Nelson        403-561-0439 snelson@titaniumcorporation.com 

         Jennifer Kaufield 403-874-9498 jkaufield@titaniumcorporation.com 
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Certain statements made in this annual report are forward-looking statements and information that 
reflect the current expectations of management about the future results, performance, achievements, 
prospects or opportunities for Titanium Corporation Inc. (Titanium or the Company).  Forward-looking 
statements, by their very nature, are subject to inherent risks and uncertainties and are based on several 
assumptions, both general and specific, which give rise to the possibility that actual results or events 
could differ materially from our expectations expressed in or implied by such forward-looking 
statements.  
 
The Company has not commercially demonstrated Creating Value from Waste™ (CVW™) technology 
and there can be no assurance that the Company’s research, pilot programs, and studies will prove to be 
accurate as actual results and future events could differ materially from those expected or estimated in 
such forward-looking statements. Unless otherwise noted, the data and anticipated future benefits 
contained in this annual report are based on results from the Company’s demonstration piloting and have 
not been proven otherwise. 
 
As a result, we cannot guarantee that any forward-looking information will materialize and we caution 
you against relying on any of this forward-looking information. Accordingly, readers should not place 
undue reliance on forward-looking information.  
 
For a description of the assumptions and risks underlying the forward-looking statements in this 
annual report, refer to the end of this annual report under the heading “Disclaimers” and consult 
Titanium’s management’s discussion and analysis for the year ended August 31, 2015 dated 
November 27, 2015 included in this annual report and in other reports filed with the securities 
regulatory authorities in Canada from time to time and available on SEDAR (www.sedar.com)
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MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

FOR THE THREE MONTHS AND YEAR ENDED AUGUST 31, 2015 

Titanium Corporation Inc.  (“Titanium” or the “Company”) has prepared the following management’s discussion 

and analysis (“MD&A”) to provide information to assist in understanding the financial results for the three and 

twelve month periods ended August 31, 2015.  This MD&A should be read in conjunction with Titanium’s 

audited financial statements as at and for the year ended August 31, 2015 (collectively, the “Financial 

Statements”).  This MD&A is dated as at and based on information available to management as of November 27, 

2015.  The Company is a development stage company whose common shares are listed on the TSX Venture 

Exchange under the symbol “TIC”. 

The above referenced material is available on Titanium’s website at www.titaniumcorporation.com or it can be 

found, along with additional information about Titanium, on the System for Electronic Document Analysis and 

Retrieval (“SEDAR”) at www.sedar.com. 

The Financial Statements and this MD&A have been prepared in accordance with Canadian generally accepted 

accounting principles as set out in the Handbook of the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada ("CPA 

Handbook") which incorporates International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  All amounts included in 

this MD&A are in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise specified.   

This MD&A contains forward-looking statements and information that reflects the current expectations of 

management about the future results, performance, achievements, prospects or opportunities for Titanium.  

Forward-looking information is provided in this document in the discussion of Titanium’s research and 

development plans under the heading “Titanium’s Business” and Titanium’s business plans for fiscal 2016 under 

the headings “Update” and “Next Steps”.  These statements generally can be identified by use of forward-looking 

words such as “may”, “will”, “expect”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, “believe”, “project”, “should” or “continue” 

or the negative thereof or similar variations.   

Forward-looking information is presented in this MD&A for the purpose of assisting investors and others in 

understanding certain key elements of our financial results and business plan, as well as our objectives, strategic 

priorities and business outlook, and in obtaining a better understanding of our anticipated operating 

environment.  Readers are cautioned that such information may not be appropriate for other purposes. 
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Forward-looking information, by its very nature, is subject to inherent risks and uncertainties and are based on 

several assumptions, both general and specific, which give rise to the possibility that actual results or events 

could differ materially from our expectations expressed in or implied by such forward-looking information and 

that our business outlook, objectives, plans and strategic priorities may not be achieved.  In particular, the 

forward-looking information contained in this MD&A is based (in whole or in part) on the results of our 

research, pilot programs, and studies described in this MD&A under the heading “Titanium’s Business”.  The 

Company has not commercially demonstrated its technologies and there can be no assurance that such research, 

pilot programs, and studies will prove to be accurate as actual results and future events could differ materially 

from those expected or estimated in such forward-looking statements.  As a result, we cannot guarantee that any 

forward-looking information will materialize and we caution you against relying on any of this forward-looking 

information. Accordingly, readers should not place undue reliance on forward-looking information.  

Additional information on these and other factors are disclosed elsewhere in this MD&A, including under the 

heading “Discussion of Risks”, and in other reports filed with the securities regulatory authorities in Canada 

from time to time and available on SEDAR (sedar.com). 

The forward-looking information contained in this MD&A describes our expectations as of November 27, 2015 

and, accordingly, are subject to change after such date.  Except as may be required by Canadian securities laws, 

we do not undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking information contained in this MD&A, 

whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise. 

Update 

The new Alberta Government has taken several initiatives directed at improvements in environmental 

performance, climate change, tailings practices and economic diversification and recently announced its Climate 

Leadership Plan. The new Federal Government has announced it is also placing an increased priority on climate 

change, working with the provinces to address the oil sands industry’s need for export market access, technology 

innovation and economic diversification. The Company believes it can add significant value in the areas where 

both Governments are now focused and support adoption of the Company’s sustainable technology.     

The Company made significant progress toward the adoption and commercialization of its CVW™ sustainable 

technology over the past year including: reaching agreements with an oil sands operator that provide a framework 

for future projects for bitumen and minerals recovery from tailings; entering advanced project reviews and due 

diligence with other oil sands operators; securing new patents for the Company’s bitumen and minerals recovery 

technologies; participating in new initiatives by the Alberta Government and making submissions that will assist 
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the Alberta Government in framing policies to address climate change, royalties and the management of tailings; 

collaborating with industry organizations focused on sustainable solutions for the oil sands; and presenting at 

industry conferences in the area of technology innovation. These activities are described in more detail herein. 

The Company also successfully executed a financial plan to strengthen its balance sheet and cash position during 

commercialization including: arranging term loan facilities totaling $1.5 million; injecting $0.5 million cash into 

the Company’s treasury through stock option exercises; issuing restricted share units (“RSUs”) and deferred share 

units (“DSUs”) to officers and directors in lieu of $0.6 million of cash compensation; reducing G&A and other 

costs by $0.5 million from the prior year.  

The following is a report on recent progress of the Company on commercialization and financing programs: 

On October 1, 2015, the Company announced agreements with Syncrude Canada (“Syncrude”) which provide a 

framework for future bitumen and minerals recovery projects on Syncrude sites.  Under the agreements, Titanium 

agreed to transfer a 50% interest in one of the Company’s oil recovery patents for royalty-free use by Syncrude at 

Syncrude sites. The Company has full use of the patent at all other oil sands operator sites without involvement by 

Syncrude. Syncrude granted the Company a “first right” to propose minerals recovery projects at Syncrude sites 

under an agreement which sets out the timeframes and other terms. 

On October 13, 2015, the Company announced that it has entered into loan agreements with Mossco Capital Inc. 

an affiliated Canadian resident corporation controlled by Moss Kadey and with David Macdonald, two of its 

independent directors. The loans totaling $1.5 million are repayable in full on October 9, 2017. Interest accrues at 

the rate of 12% per annum from the date of advance, standby fees at the rate of 3% per annum on any undrawn 

balance (both payable monthly) and drawdown fees of 2% at the time of each advance of $0.5 million. The loans 

are secured by an interest over all of the Company’s present and after acquired personal property and a floating 

charge on all of its real property. In connection with the loans, Titanium issued 750,000 non-transferable common 

shares purchase warrants to the Lenders which were allocated proportionally on the basis of their committed 

amounts. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share of Titanium at a price of $1.35 per 

Common Share prior to October 9, 2017.  The warrants, and underlying common shares, are subject to a four-

month hold period from the date of issuance, which expires on February 9, 2016.   

The Company has not drawn under the loans at the date of this MD&A.  On October 22, 2015, the Company 

announced that it had issued RSUs and DSUs under shareholder approved plans to management and directors of 

the Company in place of $0.6 million of cash compensation outstanding at August 31, 2015.  

On October 27, 2015, the Company announced that management and directors had exercised 700,000 stock 

options due to expire on October 28, 2015 which injected $0.5 million into the Company. After sales of common 



Management Discussion and Analysis 
For the year ended August 31, 2015 
 
 

Titanium Corporation - 2015 Annual Report Page 11 
 

shares of the Company to fund the option exercise price and associated taxes payable, management and directors 

acquired an additional 266,700 common shares of the Company and now hold 10,681,462 securities consisting of 

common shares of the Company, DSUs and RSUs representing 15.5% of the total number of securities 

outstanding on a non-diluted basis. 

On November 22, 2015, the Alberta Government announced its Climate Leadership Plan to implement a 

greenhouse gas emissions reduction strategy which includes: an Alberta economy-wide price on greenhouse gas 

(GHG) emissions of $30/tonne; an output-based allocation of emissions permits to oil sands operators reflecting 

top-quartile emissions performance (compared to each facility’s historic emissions-intensity today); the phasing 

out of coal-fired electricity generation by 2030 to be replaced by electricity generation from renewables and 

natural gas; a forward looking cap of 100 megatonnes (MT)/year on GHG emissions from the oil sands sector 

with the intent of promoting innovation to achieve intensity reductions as growth continues; and a methane 

reduction strategy focused on the oil and gas industry to reduce emissions by 45% or 12MT/year from existing 

levels. The Climate Leadership Report to the Minister indicates that the output-based allocation at top-quartile 

performance with a carbon price of $30 per tonne would approximately double aggregate compliance costs for oil 

sands producers in 2018 compared to the system in place today.  Moreover, the increase will not be evenly 

distributed as the performance based system will see a redistribution of compliance costs towards the higher 

emissions-intensive facilities.  The Company believes that this plan provides strong incentives for innovation and 

deployment of cleaner technologies in the oil sands, including the Company’s CVWtm technology.  The 

environmental benefits from implementation of the Company’s technology include a significant reduction of 

methane emissions associated with froth treatment tailings and other GHG emission reductions (from heat 

recovery, increased bitumen production and enhanced tailings management), that can significantly lower the GHG 

emissions intensity of the mining oil sands sector.     

The following section reports other developments of significance to the Company during 2015:  

In May 2015, an authoritative, independent report prepared for the Canadian Government’s Ministry of Natural 

Resources, with support from Environment Canada, cited Titanium’s technology as the solution for froth 

treatment tailings. The report (titled “Council of Canadian Academies, 2015 Technological Prospects for 

Reducing the Environmental Footprint of Canadian Oil Sands. The Expert Panel on the Potential for New and 

Emerging Technologies to Reduce the Environmental Impacts of Oil Sands Development”) concluded that “air 

pollutants arising from decomposition of residual hydrocarbons in tailings ponds can be treated by keeping froth 

treatment tailings, the major source of such contaminants (e.g., solvents, volatile organic compounds “VOCs”) out 

of the tailings ponds and treating them separately” and “would address two important tailings problems. The 

segregation of this tailings stream would reduce fugitive emissions and toxicity that remain in the froth 
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tailings….avoid expensive reclamation issues unique to this material…..allow for the recovery of bitumen and 

metals.”  The 12 member expert panel report cited Titanium as having developed the technology necessary to 

address these issues.   

The new Alberta NDP Government, elected in April 2015, has announced a number of policy initiatives and 

reviews of climate change and royalties that impact the oil sands industry. These changes would increase the 

value of the potential benefits of implementing the Company’s technology. The Company has participated in the 

process for policy development established by the Alberta Government and made written submissions to the 

Climate Change Advisory Panel and the Royalty Review Panel which the Company announced in October 2015.  

On June 25, 2015, the Alberta Government announced important changes to current climate change legislation.  

The required reduction of the emissions intensity of facilities emitting 100,000 tonnes or more of greenhouse 

gases, which includes the oil sands mining operations facilities, was increased from the current required reduction 

of 12% to 15% after January 1, 2015 and then to 20% after January 1, 2017. 

Under the announced legislation, the cost of greenhouse gas (“GHG”) technology fund credits will be doubled 

over the next two years. To comply with the legislation, in addition to physically abating GHG emissions, facility 

owners may purchase technology fund credits from the Alberta Government. The cost of technology fund credits 

will be increased from the current cost of $15/tonne to $20/tonne for 2016 and to $30/tonne for 2017. 

In March 2015, the Alberta Government released its new Tailings Management Framework for the Mineable 

Athabasca Oil Sands (“TMF”). Under the new framework, regulations being developed by the Alberta Energy 

Regulator (“AER”) require the progressive treatment and reclamation of tailings during the life of operations. The 

AER has been conducting a consultation process regarding the TMF before establishing final regulations and the 

Company has made a submission.  Oil sands operators are currently focused on the most effective processes and 

new technologies to address the on-going remediation of tailings. The work of the Canada’s Oil Sands Innovation 

Alliance (“COSIA”), the industry’s collaborative organization established to accelerate the adoption of new 

environmental technologies, is a key aspect of new technology development and deployment. The operators are 

currently developing plans for submission to the AER to meet the new framework, including the potential 

inclusion of the Company’s CVW™ technology.  

The Company continued its successful patent programs during 2015 with the award of two new patents related to 

bitumen and minerals recovery.  A combined total of eleven patents have been issued in Canada and the United 

States and seven patents in those jurisdictions are filed and currently under review. 

World oil markets have continued to be oversupplied in 2015, causing price levels to decline to less than half of 

prices in comparable periods in 2014. The oil sands industry in particular has been severely affected by low 
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prices, due to the relatively higher production costs for bitumen, large capital investments and market access. To 

deal with the low price environment, oil sands operators are taking measures to reduce capital expenditures, 

discretionary spending and staffing levels. Operators are focused on optimization, opportunities to increase 

production from existing operations and to reduce operating expenses. Based on its research, pilot programs and 

studies, the Company believes its technology offers the potential to deliver additional bitumen production 

recovered from tailings at a direct operating cost below $10 per barrel, and is expected to provide a cost effective 

solution for tailings management. There are also a number of potential operating cost savings related to: emissions 

and volume reductions from tailings; energy cost reductions through hot water recovery and reuse; improved 

tailings thickening, and reductions in hazardous materials. 

In contrast to oil prices, zircon and titanium prices have remained relatively stable over the past year, with 

industry forecasts for moderate growth in demand and pricing in future years. The potential creation of a new 

minerals industry, recovering valuable heavy minerals from oil sands tailings by deploying the Company’s 

technology, represents an opportunity for additional resource development and diversification of Alberta and 

Canada’s economy.  

The Company continues its important industry relationships and participation in COSIA, the Alberta Chamber of 

Resources (“ACR”) and other organizations.  In February 2015, the TSX Venture Exchange announced its Top 50 

performing listings for 2014, with Titanium achieving a top placing in the Clean Technology sector.  In March 

2015, Dr. Kevin Moran was invited to make two presentations during the World Heavy Oil Congress 2015, an 

assembly of over 1,000 heavy oil professionals, held this year in Edmonton, Alberta. In April 2015, Dr. Moran 

addressed the first COSIA Innovation Summit held in Banff, Alberta, with 500 delegates attending from industry 

and government.  

The Company is continuing efficiency programs to reduce expenses, conserve cash and evaluate funding options 

to ensure adequate capital resources are available during commercialization. The Company’s executive officers 

are receiving a significant portion of their compensation in RSUs and all directors receive all of their 

compensation in DSUs to both conserve cash and further align themselves with shareholder’s interests.   

Next Steps 

Adoption of the Company’s technology requires the support and cooperation of the oil sands industry and the 

Alberta government. Titanium is working with those oil sands operators who are most interested in adoption of its 

technologies. The Company is progressing well through due diligence processes typically involving reviews by 

research and technology specialists, project engineering, economic, and site operational departments of these large 

organizations. Implementing Titanium’s technology would see concentrator facilities built at oil sands sites which 
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integrate with existing oil sands operations. Separate minerals separation facilities would process heavy mineral 

concentrates (“HMC”) into final minerals products.  The facilities may be jointly owned and operated along with 

oil sands operators or strategic partners. The Company has advanced flexible business models whereby customers 

may elect to license technology and build certain of the facilities or elect to have the Company, together with 

partners, build and operate. The following are key steps in establishing commercialization of the Company’s 

technologies:  

 One or more oil sands operators complete their internal due diligence and review of proposals and agree 

to proceed. 

 The Company and the oil sands operator(s) negotiate the business model, commercial terms and 

conditions. 

 The Alberta government finalizes the fiscal structure, including the royalty regime, which will apply to 

this new form of resource recovery. 

 The Company finalizes partnering, joint venture and financing arrangements. 

 The proponents of the first project begin front-end engineering and design (“FEED”) for bitumen 

recovery and minerals processing facilities followed by engineering, procurement and construction 

(“EPC”).  

 The EPC period is estimated at approximately 30 months, after which facilities would be commissioned 

and commercial production commenced. 

There is wide acceptance that innovation and new technology are the principal solutions to the reduction of both 

environmental impacts and operating costs in Canada’s oil sands industry. Through a disciplined research and 

development (“R&D”) approach and with cooperation from industry and government, the Company believes that 

it has successfully developed unique technology solutions that offer significant improvements to both 

environmental and economic challenges.  We are confident that this value proposition favours adoption of our 

technology.   
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Financial Information & Analysis 

Summary of Selected Annual Results 

The following table presents a summary of selected annual financial information prepared under IFRS (Canadian 

dollar in millions except per share data): 

Fiscal Year Ended 

  Aug 31, 2015 Aug 31, 2014 Aug 31, 2013 
Net Loss  $                 2.5   $                 3.0   $                 4.3  
Net Loss per Share - Basic & Diluted  $               0.04   $               0.05   $               0.07  
Cash and cash equivalents  $                 0.9   $                 2.6   $                 4.1  
Total Assets  $                 0.9   $                 2.8   $                 5.4  

 

Summary of Selected Quarterly Results 

The following table summarizes the financial data of the Company for the most recently completed eight quarters 

prepared under IFRS (Canadian dollar in millions except per share data): 

 

  
Q4 

Aug 31, 2015 
Q3 

May 31, 2015 
Q2 

Feb 28, 2015 
Q1 

Nov 30, 2014 
STATEMENT OF LOSS 

Net Loss  $                0.7  $                0.5   $                0.8   $                0.5  
Basic and Diluted Loss per Share $             0.01 $              0.01 $              0.01 $              0.01 

  
Q4 

Aug 31, 2014 
Q3 

May 31, 2014 
Q2 

Feb 28, 2014 
Q1 

Nov 30, 2013 
STATEMENT OF LOSS 

Net Loss  $                 0.5  $                 0.7 $                 1.0   $              0.8 
Basic and Diluted Loss per Share $              0.01 $               0.01 $               0.02 $             0.01 

 

The Company is in the development stage and has yet to earn any revenues. Until commercial arrangements are 

made with an oil sands operator, investments are made and a plant is built and operating, the Company expects to 

incur losses. Quarterly losses are comprised of R&D and general and administrative (“G&A”) expenditures.  

Changes in quarterly losses are dependent on the level of pre-commercialization and R&D activity that the 

Company has underway at any time.  

The following summarizes the Company’s financial results for the three and twelve month periods ended August 

31, 2015 compared to the three and twelve month periods ended August 31, 2014: 
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 Net loss of $0.7 million for the three month period ended August 31, 2015 increased by $0.2 million from 

$0.5 million in the comparative three month period ended August 31, 2014.  The increase in net loss for 

the quarter, relates primarily to the implementation of a cash conversation plan whereby management and 

directors voluntary exchanged cash compensation in the range of 20% to 100% for either DSUs or RSUs. 

The plan resulted in an increase in non cash deferred compensation expense recognized in the three month 

period ended August 31, 2015. Net loss in the current quarter is comprised of G&A expense of $0.4 

million and R&D of $0.2 million which was consistent with $0.4 million of G&A and $0.2 million of 

R&D expenses for the three month period ended August 31, 2014. Net loss decreased by $0.5 million for 

twelve month period ended August 31, 2015 as a result of concluding all of the minerals testing and 

focusing on expense reduction and cash conversation.  For a development stage company, the net loss was 

in line with expectations. 

 The Company reduced its cash G&A expenses by $0.1 million for the three month period ended August 

31, 2015 and by $0.3 million for the twelve months compared to the corresponding periods in 2014, 

primarily in the areas of consulting and professional fees, directors fees, travel, and investor relations. For 

the twelve month period ended August 31, 2015, director’s fees were reduced by $0.1 million and 

included in deferred compensation expense and settled with DSUs subsequent to year end on October 21, 

2015.  With uncertainty related to timing of a first commercial project, the Company has diligently 

reduced expenses to preserve cash and implemented equity based compensation plans.   

 The Company had $0.9 million in cash at August 31, 2015 as compared to $2.6 million at August 31, 

2014.  The decrease in cash of $1.6 million for the year ended August 31, 2015 relates to general 

overhead costs and R&D expenses offset by the receipt of a $0.2 million in refundable research tax credit 

for the Company’s 2013 SR&ED filings. All of the cash balances are liquid and are held in interest 

bearing cash accounts with major Canadian chartered banks.  Subsequent to year end, the Company 

received $0.5 million through the exercise of stock options and arranged a $1.5 million credit facility to 

ensure the Company has adequate resources to commercialize its technology.  In addition, $0.6 million of 

deferred compensation liability was settled through the issuance of DSUs and RSUs further strengthening 

the Company’s balance sheet.  
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Research and Development Expenditures 
Below is a summary of the R&D expenditures by major category ($ thousands): 

Three months ended  Twelve  months ended 

  
Aug 31, 

2015 
Aug 31, 

2014 
Increase  

(decrease) 
 Aug 31, 

2015 
Aug 31, 

2014 
Increase  

(decrease) 
Compensation and benefits  $     74   $     77   $    (3)    $     298   $     382   $    (84)  
Deferred Compensation 107 6 101  252 6 246 
Pilot plant, rent and other 68  40  28  179 486 (307) 
Government grant recovery - - -  - (34) 34 
Research tax credits - 38 (38)  - 38 (38) 
Equity-based compensation  - 9 (9)  3 79 (76) 
   $   249   $    170  $   79   732 957 (225) 

 R&D spending in the current quarter consisted of compensation for technical staff and rent, testing 

expenses, equipment storage fees, and patent filing and maintenance fees.  

 For the three month period ended August 31, 2015, R&D spending was $0.2 million which was consistent 

with the corresponding period in 2014.  For the twelve month period ended August 31, 2015 R&D 

expenses were $0.7 million, compared with $1.0 million in the corresponding period, when the Company 

was completing the final phase of the minerals development program finalizing the flow-sheet circuits 

and processing HMC into zircon products for customer testing.  With the final stage of minerals 

development complete and the focus on commercialization of the CVW™ technology, R&D expenses in 

future quarters will continue to be very modest. 

General and Administrative Expenditures 

The following table provides details of G&A expenditures for the periods noted ($ thousands): 

Three months ended  Twelve  months ended 

  
Aug 31, 

2015 
Aug 31, 

2014 
Increase  

(decrease) 
 Aug 31, 

2015 
Aug 31, 

2014 
Increase  

(decrease) 
Compensation and benefits $         232   $         141 $         91  $         608   $       491 $       117 
Deferred compensation 88 27 61  341 106 235 
Consulting and professional fees 59 104 (45)  413 542 (129) 
Directors fees - 46 (46)  94 216 (122) 
Travel 4 12 (8)  57 93 (36) 
Rent, insurance and office 26 27 (1)  103 139 (36) 
Investor relations and regulatory 2 10 (8)  100 116 (16) 
Equity-based compensation - 27 (27)  24 358 (334) 
   $       411    $       394   $   17     $     1,740    $    2,061   $   (321)   
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The Company has reduced costs where possible to focus its resources on commercialization. Overall, G&A 

expenses were consistent for the three month period ended August 31, 2015 as compared with the corresponding 

period in the prior fiscal year.  For the twelve month period ended August 31, 2015, G&A expenses were lower 

by $0.3 million as compared to August 31, 2014.  The increase in the fourth quarter in compensation and benefits 

reflects the award in cash of a portion compensation previously recorded as deferred compensation in prior 

quarters.  Compensation and benefits for the twelve month period ended August 31, 2015 were higher due to the 

reclassification in fiscal 2014 ($106,000 settled with RSUs) from compensation and benefits to equity based 

compensation. Cash compensation costs for the current twelve month period ended August 31, 2015 were 

consistent with the corresponding period in the prior fiscal year. Deferred compensation for the year ended 

August 31, 2015 was higher by $0.3 million due to substitution of equity for cash compensation by directors and 

management for the year ended August 31, 2015.  Consulting and professional fees were also reduced in the 

current quarter and on a year to date basis as the agreements with Syncrude were substantially completed during 

the last quarter of the fiscal year.  Equity based compensation expense for the year ended August 31, 2015 was 

lower by $0.3 million as stock options were fully vested early in the fiscal year and no additional stock options 

were granted during the current fiscal year.   

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Going Concern 

The Company had $0.9 million in cash at August 31, 2015 compared to $2.6 million at August 31, 2014. The 

reduction in cash is commensurate with ongoing operational expenses and general and administrative overheads 

for a publicly traded company. The Company’s cash balances consist of interest bearing cash accounts held at 

Schedule I Canadian chartered banks. In light of declining cash, and to ensure the Company’s ability to pursue 

commercialization of its technology, a loan facility was arranged with two of its independent directors pursuant to 

which the lenders agreed to lend to Titanium the aggregate principal amount of up to $1.5 million.  Subsequent to 

year end the Company improved its capital resources by arranging the loan facility ($1.5 million) (see "Related 

Party Transactions" in this MD&A), and through the exercise of stock options ($0.5 million).  The Company is 

considered to be a development stage enterprise as it has yet to earn any revenues from its planned operations.  

The Company is devoting substantially all of its efforts toward commercializing its proprietary technology.  The 

recoverability of amounts expended on R&D is dependent on the ability of the Company to complete pre-

commercialization activities, commercialization at oil sands sites, and achieve future profitable operations. The 

Company is dependent on raising funds through the issuance of securities, government grants and/or attracting 

partners in order to undertake further development and commercialization of its technology. These circumstances 

cast a significant doubt on the appropriateness of the use of accounting principles applicable to a going concern.  
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While the Company has been successful in obtaining the necessary financing to develop the business to this point, 

there are no assurances that the Company will be successful in the future in these endeavors. 

The financial statements are prepared using generally accepted accounting principles that are applicable to a going 

concern.  An inability to raise additional financing or to achieve commercial operations will impact the future 

assessment of the Company as a going concern.  If the going concern assumption was not appropriate for these 

financial statements, the reported income and expenses and the statement of financial position would require the 

necessary adjustments to the carrying values of assets and liabilities, which could be material. 

The R&D and demonstration piloting phases of project development are complete.  Any discretionary R&D 

and/or engineering projects will be pursued in conjunction with a financing or grant and/or partner funding. The 

Company is continuing to evaluate longer term funding options to ensure adequate capital resources through the 

commercialization period. Options available to the Company to fund its future cash requirements include, but are 

not limited to, new or additional government grants and/or issuances of securities and/or some form of partnership 

or joint venture; however, as noted above, the Company may not be successful in these endeavors.  See 

“Discussion of Risks” in this MD&A. 

The following is a summary of the cash flows for the periods noted: 

 Cash used in operating activities for the year ended August 31, 2015 was $1.8 million as compared to $2.4 

million, for the year ended August 31, 2014 consisting of G&A and corporate overheads and to a lesser extent 

R&D.   The decrease in use of cash in operating activities was related to the implementation of equity in lieu 

of cash compensation programs and other G&A and R&D expense reductions such as minerals testing 

projects that were completed in the prior fiscal year. 

 Cash provided by financing activities for the year ended August 31, 2015 was nil compared to $0.9 million in 

the previous fiscal year ended August 31, 2014 representing the final payments under the Sustainable 

Development Technology Canada (“SDTC”) Contribution Agreement and Industrial Research Assistance 

Program (“IRAP”) program.      

Financial Instruments and Financial Risk Factors 

The Company has, for accounting purposes, designated its cash and cash equivalents, goods and services tax 

receivable, as loans and receivables. Trade and other payables and accrued liabilities are classified for accounting 

purposes as other financial liabilities. The Company estimates that both the carrying and fair value amounts of the 

Company’s financial instruments are approximately equivalent because of the short-term nature of the assets.  

This discussion on risks is not all-inclusive and other factors may currently, or in the future, affect the Company 
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and should also be read in conjunction with the other risks described under the heading “Discussion of Risks” in 

this MD&A.  

Financial risk 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial, credit, liquidity and market risks, including interest 

rate and foreign exchange rate risks. 

Financial risk management is carried out by the Company’s management team with guidance from the Audit 

Committee and the Board of Directors of the Company.  The Board of Directors of the Company also provides 

guidance for enterprise risk management. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations.  The 

Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents. Cash and cash equivalents are held 

with Schedule I Canadian Chartered banks which are reviewed by management.  Management believes that the 

credit risk concentration with respect to financial instruments is minimal. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial obligations 

as they come due.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will have sufficient 

liquidity to meet liabilities when due.  As at August 31, 2015, the Company had aggregate cash and cash 

equivalents of $0.9 million ($2.6 million, August 31, 2014) to settle current liabilities of $0.3 million ($0.4 

million, August 31, 2014).  Most of the Company’s liabilities have contractual terms of 30 days or less with the 

remainder due within one year. With respect to the deferred compensation liability of $0.7 million, $0.6 million of 

the liability was settled October 21, 2015 with the issuance of DSUs or RSUs to directors and officers of the 

Company. 

As described herein, the Company announced on October 13, 2015 that it had entered into loan agreements (the 

“Loan Agreements”) with Mossco Capital Inc., an affiliated Canadian resident corporation controlled by Moss 

Kadey and with David Macdonald, two of its independent directors (together, the “Lenders”) pursuant to which 

the Lenders agreed to lend to the Company the aggregate principal amount of up to $1.5 million (collectively, the 

“Loans”). The Loans, when drawn, are repayable in full by Titanium to the Lenders on October 9, 2017. Titanium 

may permanently repay all or part of the Loans at any time without notice or penalty. A wholly-owned holding 
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company of Mr. Kadey agreed to advance up to $1.0 million and Mr. Macdonald agreed to advance up to $0.5 

million. The proceeds from the Loans are to be used for general corporate purposes as approved by the 

Company’s Board of Directors in its annual budget. Interest accrues on the Loans at the rate of 12% per annum 

from the date of advance, standby fees at the rate of 3% per annum on any undrawn balances of the Loans (both 

payable monthly), and drawdown fees of 2.0% at the time of  each advance of $0.5 million. Titanium’s 

obligations in respect of the Loans are secured by a general security agreement granted by Titanium to each 

Lender under which Titanium has granted security interests over all of its present and after-acquired personal 

property and a floating charge over all of its real property. Titanium and the Lenders have also entered into an 

intercreditor agreement to confirm the pari passu ranking of the Loans and security, including the right to 

payment, priority of security and realization in respect of security.  In connection with the loans, Titanium issued 

750,000 non-transferable common shares purchase warrants to the Lenders which were allocated proportionally 

on the basis of their committed amounts. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share of 

Titanium at a price of $1.35 per Common Share prior to October 9, 2017.  The warrants, and underlying common 

shares, are subject to a four-month hold period from the date of issuance, which expires on February 9, 2016.   

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates and foreign 

exchange rates. 

a) Interest rate risk 

The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in interest bearing cash accounts, bankers' acceptances and 

guaranteed investment certificates issued by Schedule I Canadian banks.  The Company periodically monitors its 

investments and the creditworthiness of the banks it holds investments in.   

b) Foreign currency risk 

The Company’s reporting and functional currency is the Canadian dollar and most purchases are transacted in 

Canadian dollars.  Some research and development expenses are denominated in US dollars and to a lesser extent, 

Australian dollars.  The Company does not hold any significant balances in foreign currencies to give rise to 

exposure to foreign exchange risk. Any impact from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates would be minimal and 

therefore the Company does not hedge its foreign exchange risk. 
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The Company manages the risks relating to the financial instruments by holding cash in interest bearing cash 

accounts at Schedule I Canadian chartered banks. The income statement includes interest income associated with 

the Company’s financial instruments.   

Titanium’s Business  

The Company has developed innovative CVW™ technology that recovers bitumen, solvents, valuable heavy 

minerals and water from oil sands waste tailings. The Company expects that the recovery of bitumen, associated 

solvents and water will result in important and timely environmental improvements for the oil sands industry.  In 

fiscal 2011, the Company completed the first phase of a large scale demonstration pilot which culminated several 

years of progressive R&D of its proprietary technologies. In fiscal 2013, the second phase of piloting provided 

further confirmation, at higher testing volumes, of the performance of the Company’s technology. The 2013 pilot 

program also produced a bulk sample of HMC for minerals process testing in Australia. The Company’s R&D 

programs have received strong support from both the Alberta and Federal governments which have provided over 

$10 million of grant funding. COSIA prioritized the Company’s technology in its Tailings Technology Roadmap 

and the Company joined COSIA as an Associate Member.  

The Company is working with the mining sector of Canada’s oil sands industry making its technology 

commercially available with a view to developing commercial projects. This industry surface mines deposits in 

northern Alberta’s Athabasca Oil Sands region to extract bitumen (heavy oil trapped in the sands) for local 

upgrading into synthetic crude oil or pipelining to refineries.  Heavy minerals that naturally occur in these oil 

sands deposits are concentrated in tailings during one of the bitumen extraction steps referred to as ‘froth 

treatment’. Oil sands producers currently use either a naphtha or paraffinic based solvent to process bitumen at the 

froth treatment stage.  These solvent-based processes result in the loss of bitumen, solvents and heavy minerals in 

froth treatment tailings streams which are currently deposited in tailings ponds. The combination of bitumen and 

solvent losses to tailings ponds results in substantial volatile organic compound emissions and GHG emissions 

from the ponds.  

Five large oil sands mining sites are currently operated by Syncrude Canada, Suncor Energy Inc., Canadian 

Natural Resources Limited (“CNRL”), Albian Sands (Shell) and Imperial Oil Kearl. Expansion projects are 

underway at CNRL and Imperial Oil Kearl and Suncor is proceeding with the new Fort Hills oil sands mining 

project. These current, developing sites and forecast expansions will significantly increase Canada’s oil sands 

mining production in the years ahead. The growth of the oil sands mining industry means that increased volumes 
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of bitumen, solvents and minerals will be lost in froth treatment tailings until new technology is adopted to 

recover this lost value. 

Over a four year period the Company’s scientists, together with research, engineering and Government partners, 

conducted highly disciplined, phased research programs as follows: 

 Phase I - initial laboratory scale work: the objective was to identify the most prospective laboratory-based 

solutions; 

 Phase II - continuous bench scale testing: the objective was to provide scaling data for piloting; and 

 Phase III - integrated pilot testing: the objective was to demonstrate the operation of the technology in an 

integrated continuous process. 

The following summarizes the successful execution of the Company’s research programs: 

The Company completed Phases I and II, successfully executing a two year research program endorsed by the 

Alberta Government and supported by a $3.5 million Alberta Energy Innovation Fund (“AEIF”) grant received in 

March 2008. The key achievements of the program were the development of technologies to remove bitumen 

from heavy minerals and recover bitumen, solvents and water from froth treatment tailings. As a condition of the 

grant, a Government Advisory Committee to the Company was formed, comprised of representatives from the 

Energy and Environment Ministries, the Energy Resources Conservation Board, Alberta Innovates and the AEIF 

grant program was extended to include partial funding of the Company’s demonstration pilot program. The 

Company has completed all programs associated with the AEIF grant and provided final reports to the Alberta 

Government.  

The success of the R&D program resulted in the award of a $4.9 million Federal Government grant from SDTC in 

September 2009. The SDTC grant was utilized by the Company to fund one-third of the integrated demonstration 

pilot program. The Company engaged SNC-Lavalin as its engineering partner for pilot and full scale commercial 

engineering.  A consortium comprised of the three naphtha based oil sands producers and Government (Federal 

and Alberta) was formed to facilitate the pilot.  The integrated demonstration pilot was engineered and operated in 

two phases over a four year period and decommissioned in May 2013.  Tailings from the three naphtha based oil 

sands operators were extensively tested during the program.  

From June 2010 through May 2013, the integrated demonstration pilot (Phase III) was operated at 

CanmetENERGY Natural Resources Canada’s Devon, Alberta pilot facility. This facility is the major site for the 
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testing of oil sands froth treatment technologies by the oil sands industry. Over 50,000 independent sample 

analyses were conducted by Maxxam Analytics during the two phase pilot program. The Company completed 

demonstration piloting for the three naphtha based oil sands operators achieving excellent results: overall bitumen 

recoveries of up to 82% and solvent recoveries of 75%, the top end of targeted ranges; removal of bitumen from 

HMC; and effective thickening of tailings and recovery of water for recycling. The Company also conducted pilot 

testing of paraffinic froth treatment tailings for two other oil sands firms, completing four weeks of piloting at a 

third party site, achieving bitumen recoveries of 85%.  

Following the completion of the demonstration pilot, the Company provided detailed technical reports and 

reviews to the oil sands and Government participants. The Company met with the oil sands participants to review 

results and provide economic business case projections and proposals. The Company has also developed 

relationships with potential partners that could bring operational, marketing and financial resources to commercial 

ventures. In parallel, the Company conducted minerals separation testing programs, utilizing cleaned HMC to 

produce final zircon products. The minerals program continued through 2014, leading to an optimized flow-sheet 

configuration and customer tested final products derived from pilot testing. By the end of fiscal 2014, the 

Company had successfully completed R&D and extensive demonstration piloting for the oil sands industry and 

completed an extensive minerals process testing program in Australia.  

The Company’s technology has been developed to meet the current and future needs of all the major oil sands 

operators related to froth treatment tailings recovery and remediation.  In addition to the anticipated benefits of 

emissions reductions, the Company’s technology affords a number of other opportunities to reduce the 

environmental footprint of mining oil sands operations. The Company commissioned a number of studies to 

support its view of the anticipated benefits of reducing emissions and environmental footprint of mining oil sands 

operations through deployment of the CVW™ process and improvements in tailings thickenings after the CVW™ 

process.   

Based on the results of the Company’s research programs and studies described herein, following processing by 

the Company’s technology, tailings thicken more effectively in subsequent thickening applications toward 

meeting Government of Alberta regulation requiring reductions in the volume of tailings. The removal of bitumen 

and solvents could also enable the direct reuse of hot froth treatment tailings water in bitumen recovery and other 

services, reducing energy costs and river water usage and GHG’s related to reheating cold pond water used in the 

bitumen extraction process.  
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Based on our research, pilot programs and studies, key economic drivers that support the adoption of Titanium’s 

technology include: the commodity value and significantly reduced costs for recovery of bitumen and solvents 

currently lost to tailings ponds; recovered zircon and titanium products; the value of emissions reductions under 

current and future regulatory regimes; and energy cost reductions due to hot process water reuse and cost 

reductions related to tailings remediation.  We believe that, with a heightened sensitivity to operating costs, 

enhanced production and reducing environmental impacts from oil sands operators, commitments by the 

provincial and federal governments to reduce carbon emissions and increased monitoring of oil sands emissions, 

there is greater desire to implement solutions to address these concerns.  Potential economic returns, incremental 

resource recovery, development of a new minerals industry and reduction of environmental impacts, we believe, 

favor adoption of our technology.  Refer to the material risks, uncertainties and other factors which may affect the 

Company are described in more detail in this MD&A under the heading “Discussion of Risks”. 

Discussion of Risks 

An investment in our common shares is risky.  Investors should carefully consider the risk factors set out below 

and consider all other information contained herein and in our other public filings before making an investment 

decision.  The risks and uncertainties described below and elsewhere in this MD&A are not the only ones the 

Company faces.  Additional risks and uncertainties, including those that the Company is not currently aware of or 

that management of the Company currently deems immaterial, may also adversely affect the Company's 

economics, operating results, financial condition and profitability of commercial projects.   

We expect to continue incurring losses and consuming cash for several years and will likely need to raise 
additional capital, the availability of which cannot be assured. 

We expect to incur continued losses over the next several years.  If we are unable to successfully implement our 

business plan, our cash requirements may increase and we may find it difficult to raise additional funding. We 

expect our cash reserves will be reduced due to future operating losses, and we cannot provide certainty as to how 

long our cash reserves will last or that we will be able to access additional capital when necessary. 

A market for our CVWTM process may never develop or may take longer to develop than we anticipate. 

Our CVWTM process represents an emerging market opportunity, and we do not know whether oil sands operators 

will adopt our CVWTM process in their operations. The development of a market for our CVWTM process may be 

affected by many factors, some of which are beyond our control, including the emergence of newer, more 

competitive technologies and processes, the cost of building and operating facilities to run our CVWTM process, 

regulatory requirements, the final fiscal structure applicable to our CVWTM process, the perception of oil sands 
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producers of the viability and necessity of our CVWTM process, the financial capacity and willingness of oil sands 

producers to commit capital in the current low oil price environment. 

If a market for our CVWTM process fails to develop, or develops more slowly than we anticipate, we may never 

achieve profitability.  

We may not be able to successfully execute our business plan. 

The execution of our business plan poses many challenges and is based on a number of assumptions. We may not 

be able to successfully execute our business plan.  In addition, we cannot guarantee that we will be able to 

leverage our relationships with oil sands producers for the implementation and development of our CVWTM 

process. If we experience significant cost overruns on our programs, or if our business plan is more costly than we 

anticipate, certain research and development activities may be delayed or eliminated, resulting in changes or 

delays to our commercialization plans, or we may be compelled to secure additional funding (which may or may 

not be available) to execute our business plan.  We cannot predict with certainty our future revenues or results 

from our operations. If the assumptions on which our revenue or expenditure forecasts are based change, the 

benefits of our business plan may change as well. In addition, we may consider expanding our business beyond 

what is currently contemplated in our business plan.  Depending on the financing requirements of a potential 

acquisition or new process opportunity, we may be required to raise additional capital through the issuance of 

equity or debt. If we are unable to raise additional capital on acceptable terms, we may be unable to pursue a 

potential acquisition or new process opportunity. 

We are dependent upon oil sands producers to adopt and integrate our CVWTM process in their oil sands 
operations.  

Our success depends on the willingness and capacity of oil sands producers to adopt and integrate our CVWTM 

process into their own oil sands operations. For oil sands producers to adopt and implement our CVWTM process, 

we will have to negotiate commercial terms for the implementation of these technologies. This will require the 

interest and cooperation of the oil sands operators. We can offer no guarantee we will be able to conclude such 

commercial negotiations on reasonable terms or at all.  

Furthermore, any integration, design, construction or operational problems encountered by oil sands producers 

associated with adopting and integrating our CVWTM process could adversely affect the market opportunity for 

our CVWTM process and our financial results. 
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We cannot guarantee that we will be able to develop a commercially scaled version of our CVWTM process on the 

timetable we anticipate, or at all. We may encounter problems and delays in the commercialization of the CVWTM 

process for a number of reasons, many of which are beyond our control. 

The CVWTM process has not been commercially demonstrated and process recoveries on a commercial level are 
uncertain.  

To date, we have focused primarily on R&D. The CVWTM process is a new process and consequently we have no 

experience operating on a large-scale commercial basis.  As such, the recovery of bitumen, heavy minerals, 

solvent and water in commercial projects and the environmental impacts of using the CVWTM process involves 

uncertainty.  There can be no assurance that the Company's CVWTM process will recover bitumen, heavy 

minerals, solvent and water at the expected levels, with the expected operating costs or on the expected schedule. 

In addition, there is inherent variability and uncertainty regarding the composition of the feed tailings that may be 

processed by the CVWTM process from different oil sands sites in commercial projects and over time from the 

same site, which could impact realized recovery rates, product volumes, revenues and operating costs 

significantly.  

More specifically, there is uncertainty relating to the volumes of bitumen, heavy minerals, solvent and water that 

may be recovered from froth treatment tailings using the CVWTM process due to uncertainties in froth tailings 

composition and process recovery rates.  While there have been many Athabasca basin studies that have assessed 

the composition of oil sands ores, as well as extensive sampling conducted by the Company and some of its 

potential oil sands commercialization partners on live froth treatment tailings at various oil sands sites, there 

remains uncertainty about the levels of bitumen and heavy minerals, and the composition of such heavy minerals, 

in any froth treatment tailings streams that may be used in a commercial project.  These could vary substantially 

and adversely from the levels and composition expected by the Company.  As such, actual production, and the net 

revenues and cash flows to be derived therefrom, may vary from time to time, and over the life of a commercial 

project from expected levels, and such variations may be material. 

We have no experience operating our CVWTM process on a commercial basis and there are uncertainties 
involved with commercial project execution.  

The execution of commercial projects, once negotiated, involves risks associated with the planning, engineering, 

cost, construction, integration, commissioning and start-up of new CVW™ facilities with existing or new oil 

sands operations.  Risks include: failures in the specification, design or technology selection; building the project 

in the approved time and at the agreed cost; and meeting agreed performance targets, including operating costs, 

efficiency, recoveries and maintenance costs.  Actual results in the execution of commercial projects could 
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materially and adversely vary from expected outcomes.  Many factors can affect key outcomes, including general 

economic, business and market conditions, the availability and cost of qualified personnel, key materials and 

equipment, the complexity of managing multiple suppliers and contractors, the complexity of building within 

existing operating sites, weather conditions, changing government regulations, approval requirements, permits 

and public expectations. 

Capital cost overruns or delays in achieving commercial implementation could have a material adverse effect on 

the Company's business, financial condition, results of operations and cash flow.  Moreover, commercial 

implementation will require substantial capital and we do not know whether we will be able to secure sufficient 

funding on terms acceptable to us or at all.  Our failure to complete commercial implementation or financing 

could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results. 

We are dependent on oil sands operators for froth treatment tailings volumes. 

There are numerous uncertainties involved with estimating the quantities of froth treatment tailings that may be 

available for processing in future commercial projects using the CVWTM process.  The quantity of froth treatment 

tailings available will depend on a number of factors, including the overall volumes of oil sands ore mined and 

processed by oil sands operators, their extraction and froth treatment efficiency, and the amount and timing of any 

operational downtime due to planned or unplanned slowdowns, shutdowns or other restrictions on production.  

The availability of froth treatment tailings for processing will depend on oil sands operators' froth tailings 

volumes, over which the Company has no control.   

Crude oil and bitumen price fluctuations are beyond our control and may affect the ability of oil sands 
producers to enter into commercial projects with us. 

Crude oil and bitumen price fluctuations are beyond our control and may have a material adverse effect on the 

economics, operating results, financial condition and profitability of commercial projects. 

The financial condition, operating results and future growth of oil sands producers are substantially dependent on 

prevailing and expected prices of oil and bitumen.  Prices for oil are subject to large fluctuations in response to 

changes in the supply of and demand for oil, market uncertainty and a variety of additional factors, including 

access to markets and sufficient transportation capacity, all of which are beyond the control of oil sands 

producers.  West Texas Intermediate (“WTI”) is an important benchmark for Canadian crude oil as it reflects mid-

continent North American prices and its Canadian dollar equivalent as the basis for determining royalties on oil 

sands producers' bitumen sales.  Additionally, Western Canadian Select (“WCS”) is a blend of heavy oils, 
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consisting of heavy conventional crude oils and bitumen, blended with sweet synthetic, light crude oil and 

condensate.  WCS generally trades at a discount to the WTI benchmark price.   

Oil prices are expected to remain volatile and may continue to decline in the near future as a result of global 

excess supply due to the increased growth of shale oil production in the United States, the decline in global 

demand for exported crude oil commodities, and the Organization of the Petroleum Exporting Countries' 

("OPEC") decisions pertaining to the oil production of OPEC member countries, among other factors. This 

volatility has resulted in certain oil sands operators reducing and suspending their production and capital 

spending, and a prolonged period of low crude oil and bitumen prices could result in certain oil sands producers 

further suspending production or affect the level of spending by oil sands operators on capital intensive projects 

and the willingness of oil sands producers to adopt and integrate our CVWTM process into their own oil sands 

operations. 

Heavy minerals price fluctuations are beyond our control and may have a material adverse effect on our 
business, operating results, financial condition and profitability. 

The ability of the Company to develop, finance and operate minerals facilities in the future will be significantly 

affected by the price of zircon, and potentially titanium, in the world market.  In particular, zircon prices have 

fluctuated widely since 2009 and are affected by numerous factors beyond the Company's control such as global 

and regional supply and demand (particularly from China), global or regional political, economic or financial 

conditions, the cost of substitutes, interest rates, inflation or deflation, and fluctuations in the value of the United 

States dollar and foreign currencies.  There is a high degree of uncertainty regarding the future price of zircon and 

other minerals that could have an adverse effect on the Company's ability to develop, finance and operate 

minerals facilities.   

The Chinese market has become a significant source of global demand for commodities, including zircon and 

other minerals. Chinese demand has been a major driver in global commodities markets for a number of years.  A 

slowing in China's economic growth could result in lower prices and demand for the products from our CVWTM 

process, which would have a negative impact on the Company.  We could also experience these negative effects if 

demand from China slowed for other reasons, such as increased self-sufficiency or certain thrifting initiatives by 

customers. 

Future mineral price declines could adversely affect our continued development of, and eventual commercial 

production from, our CVWTM process.  These declines could impair the economic feasibility to develop, finance 

and operate minerals facilities.  Depending on the price of and demand for zircon and other minerals, the 
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Company may not be able to proceed with the development of minerals facilities.  Additionally, continuing to 

commercially develop our CVWTM process may not be feasible.  Even if the continued commercial development 

of our CVWTM process is ultimately determined to be economically viable, the need to conduct such a 

reassessment may cause substantial delays and interrupt operations until the reassessment can be completed.  

Potential fluctuations in our financial and business results make forecasting difficult and may restrict our 
access to funding for our commercialization plan. 

We expect our revenues and operating results to vary significantly from quarter to quarter. As a result, quarter-to-

quarter comparisons of our revenues and operating results may not be meaningful.  Due to the stage of 

development of our business, it is difficult to predict our future revenues or results of operations accurately. We 

are also subject to normal market and financial risks such as credit risks, foreign currency risks and fluctuations in 

commodity prices. As a result, it is possible that in one or more future quarters, our operating results may fall 

below the expectations of investors and securities analysts.  Not meeting investor and security analyst 

expectations may materially and adversely impact the trading price of our common shares and restrict our ability 

to secure required funding to pursue our commercialization plans. 

The royalty regime in Alberta and other fiscal incentives may not encourage oil sands operators to enter into 
commercialization agreements and could significantly reduce the value of the Company's CVWTM process and 
technologies. 

The prospects for commercializing the CVWTM process, and the Company's operating cash flow from commercial 

projects, will be affected by the applicable royalty regime, any fiscal incentives and the results of the ongoing 

royalty review by the Government of Alberta. The Province of Alberta receives royalties linked to price and 

production levels on the production of natural resources from lands in which it owns the mineral rights, including 

lands with new and existing oil sands projects.  

The Government of Alberta is developing a fiscal framework related to the recovery of heavy minerals and 

bitumen from oil sands tailings. It is anticipated that this fiscal framework will provide clarity around royalties, 

capital cost treatment and other fiscal terms required for planning and investing in commercial projects. The 

Government of Alberta may not adopt a fiscal regime for minerals and bitumen from oil sands tailings that 

incentivizes oil sands operators to enter commercialization agreements. Further, the Government of Alberta may 

implement a regime that adversely affects the results of operations, financial condition or prospects of the 

Company or its oil sands partners. 

Further, changes to the royalty regime in Alberta, including pursuant to the ongoing royalty review by the 

Government of Alberta, that could impose higher than expected royalties on oil sands operators would reduce the 
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total earnings to be derived from commercial projects, and could make future commercialization agreements 

harder to negotiate on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. Such revisions could also significantly reduce 

the value of the Company's CVWTM process technologies. 

New Federal Government policies may not encourage oil sands operators to enter commercialization 
agreements. 

The Federal Government has signaled it will phase out subsidies for the oil and gas industry, which include only 

allowing the use of the Canadian Exploration Expenses tax deduction in cases of successful exploration, 

implementing more stringent reviews for pipelines, and establishing a pan-Canadian framework for combating 

climate change by March 10, 2016. These changes could impact earnings of oil sands operators and make future 

commercialization agreements harder to negotiate on terms acceptable to the Company or at all. 

Exchange rate fluctuations are beyond our control and may have a material adverse effect on our business, 
operating results, financial condition and profitability. 

Our revenues will be affected by fluctuations in the exchange rate between the Canadian dollar and the United 

States dollar. Once a commercial deal is arranged, we would expect to generate a significant portion of our 

revenues in United States dollars while a significant portion of our operating expenses, cost of revenues and 

capital expenditures are in Canadian dollars. As a result, any decrease in the value of the United States dollar 

relative to the Canadian dollar reduces the amount of Canadian dollar revenues we realize on sales, without a 

corresponding decrease in expenses. Exchange rate fluctuations are beyond our control, and the United States 

dollar may depreciate against the Canadian dollar in the future, which would result in lower revenues and 

margins. In order to reduce the potential negative effect of a weakening United States dollar, we may enter into 

various hedging programs. However, if the Canadian dollar increases in value, it will negatively affect our 

financial results. 

We depend on our intellectual property and our failure to protect that intellectual property could adversely 
affect our future growth and success. 

Our success depends in part on our ability to protect our intellectual property rights. We rely on patent, trade 

secret, trademark and copyright laws to protect our intellectual property. However, our patent position remains 

subject to complex factual and legal issues, which may give rise to uncertainty as to the validity, scope and 

enforceability of a particular patent. Accordingly, there is no assurance that effective patent, trade secret, 

trademark and copyright protection will always be available for our intellectual property rights, both in Canada 

and other countries. 
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We also seek to protect our proprietary intellectual property, including intellectual property that may not be 

patented or patentable, in part by confidentiality agreements and, if applicable, inventors' rights agreements with 

our strategic partners and employees. We can provide no assurance that these agreements will not be breached, 

that we will have adequate remedies for any breach, or that such persons or institutions will not assert rights to 

intellectual property arising out of these relationships. 

We may be involved in intellectual property legal proceedings that causes us to incur significant expenses or 

prevents us from selling the CVWTM process. 

We may become subject to legal proceedings in which it is alleged that we have infringed the intellectual property 

rights of others or commence legal proceedings against others who we believe are infringing upon our rights. 

Our involvement in intellectual property litigation could result in significant expense to us, adversely affecting the 

development of sales of the challenged process or intellectual property and diverting the efforts of our technical 

and management personnel, whether or not such litigation is resolved in our favour. In the event of an adverse 

outcome as a defendant in any such litigation, we may, among other things, be required to: (a) pay substantial 

damages; cease the development, use, sale or importation of processes that infringe upon other patented 

intellectual property; (b) expend significant resources to develop or acquire non-infringing intellectual property; 

(c) discontinue processes incorporating infringing technology; or (d) obtain licenses to the infringing intellectual 

property. 

We may not be successful in such development or acquisition or such licenses may not be available on reasonable 

terms. Any such development, acquisition or license could require the expenditure of substantial time and other 

resources and could have a material adverse effect on our business and financial results. 

We currently face and will continue to face competition. 

As our CVWTM process has the potential to replace existing methods of dealing with froth treatment tailings, 

competition for our process will come from current oil sands producers, from improvements to current methods of 

dealing with froth treatment tailings and from new alternative methods of dealing with froth treatment tailings.  

Additionally, oil sands producers are working on developing alternative methods of dealing with froth treatment 

tailings, such as thickening and dewatering methods which could meet current regulatory requirements. The 

industry may elect to use such methods or develop others as alternatives to adopting the Company's technology. 

Other companies, research facilities and universities are actively engaged in the research and development of 

processes for dealing with froth treatment tailings. Each of these organizations has the potential to develop 
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competing processes that would diminish the competitiveness of our CVWTM process.  These organizations, 

including the oil sands producers themselves, have substantial financial resources, research and development 

capabilities, and other resources, which give them significant competitive advantages over us. 

There are operational hazards involved in the CVWTM process. 

CVWTM projects will involve the typical risks associated with recovering, transporting and processing 

hydrocarbons, including fires, explosions, gaseous leaks, migration of harmful substances and spills. A casualty 

occurrence might result in the loss of life and equipment, as well as injury, property damage or the interruption of 

the operations of a commercial project.  The Company may not carry adequate insurance with respect to all 

potential casualties, damages, losses and disruptions.  Losses and liabilities arising from uninsured or under-

insured events could have a material adverse effect on the Company's results of operations, financial condition 

and prospects. 

 
We could lose or fail to attract the personnel necessary to run our business. 

Our success depends in large part on our ability to attract and retain key management, engineering, scientific and 

operating personnel. As we develop additional capabilities and expand the scope of our operations, we will 

require more skilled personnel. Recruiting personnel for the oil sands and waste remediation industry is highly 

competitive. We may not be able to continue to attract and retain qualified executive, managerial, technical and 

operational personnel needed for our business.  Our failure to attract or retain qualified personnel could have a 

material adverse effect on our business. 

Related Party Transactions 

As described herein, the Company announced on October 13, 2015 that it had entered into the Loan Agreements 

with the Lenders pursuant to which the Lenders agreed to lend to the Company the aggregate principal amount of 

up to $1.5 million. The Loans, when drawn, are repayable in full by Titanium to the Lenders on October 9, 2017. 

Titanium may permanently repay all or part of the Loans at any time without notice or penalty. A wholly-owned 

holding company of Mr. Kadey agreed to advance up to $1.0 million and Mr. Macdonald agreed to advance up to 

$0.5 million. The proceeds from the Loans are to be used for general corporate purposes as approved by the 

Company’s Board of Directors in its annual budget. Interest accrues on the Loans at the rate of 12% per annum 

from the date of advance, standby fees at the rate of 3% per annum on any undrawn balances of the Loans (both 

payable monthly), and drawdown fees of 2.0% at the time of  each advance of $0.5 million. Titanium’s 

obligations in respect of the Loans are secured by a general security agreement granted by Titanium to each 

Lender under which Titanium has granted security interests over all of its present and after-acquired personal 
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property and a floating charge over all of its real property. Titanium and the Lenders have also entered into an 

inter-creditor agreement to confirm the pari passu ranking of the Loans and security, including the right to 

payment, priority of security and realization in respect of security.  In connection with the loans, Titanium issued 

750,000 non-transferable common share purchase warrants to the Lenders which were allocated proportionally on 

the basis of their committed amounts. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share of Titanium 

at a price of $1.35 per Common Share prior to October 9, 2017.  The warrants, and underlying common shares, 

are subject to a four-month hold period from the date of issuance, which expires on February 9, 2016.   

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

The Company does not have any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

New standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted 

Certain new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the current reporting 

period, and therefore have not been applied in preparing the financial statements. 

 

The Company has reviewed the new and revised accounting pronouncements that have been issued but are not yet 

effective and determined that the following may have an impact on the Company and will become effective 

beginning on or after September 1, 2015: 

 

IFRS 9 - “Financial Instruments” This amendment replaces the current standard IFRS 39 “Financial Instruments: 

Recognition and Measurement”, replacing the current classification and measurement criteria for financial assets 

and liabilities with only two classifications categories: amortized cost and fair value. The amendment is effective 

January 1, 2018. 

 

IFRS 15 – “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. This amendment replaces the existing revenue standards 

and interpretations with a single standard and provides additional guidance on revenue recognition for contracts 

with customers. The amendment is effective January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. 

 

The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting these standards on its financial statements. 
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Other Information 

Outstanding Share Data - as at November 27, 2015: 

Number of common shares issued and outstanding:      65,155,643 

Number of common share awards granted and outstanding:  2,701,434 

Compliance 

Mr. Neil Dawson, of Australia, and a registered member of AusIMM is the independent consultant who acts as 

the Qualified Person for the Company on the CVW ™ project. 
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November 26, 2015 

 
 
Independent Auditor’s Report 
 
 
To the Shareholders of 
Titanium Corporation Inc. 
 
 
We have audited the accompanying financial statements of Titanium Corporation Inc., which comprise 
the statement of financial position as at August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2014 and the statement of loss 
and comprehensive loss, statement of cash flows and statement of changes in shareholders’ equity for 
the years then ended, and the related notes, which comprise a summary of significant accounting 
policies and other explanatory information. 
 
Management’s responsibility for the financial statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
Auditor’s responsibility 
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. We 
conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement. 
 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in 
the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or 
error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s 
preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the entity’s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the 
overall presentation of the financial statements. 
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We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 
In our opinion, the financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
Titanium Corporation Inc. as at August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2014 and its financial performance and 
its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. 
 
Emphasis of matter  
Without qualifying our opinion, we draw attention to note 1 in the financial statements which describes 
matters and conditions that indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant 
doubt about Titanium Corporation Inc.’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
 

 

 
Chartered Accountants 
 

“PwC” refers to PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, an Ontario limited liability partnership. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
111 5 Avenue SW, Suite 3100, Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 
5L3 T: +1 403 509 7500, F: +1 403 781 1825, 
www.pwc.com/ca 
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(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

   

August 31, 
2015 

$  

August 31, 
2014 

$ 
      

Assets      
      
Current assets      
Cash and cash equivalents   883,099  2,609,652 
Research tax credits receivable (note 4)   -  177,843 
Goods and services tax receivable   8,333  12,276 
Prepaid expenses   9,460  29,012 
      
   900,892  2,828,783 
      
Equipment (note 5)   14,026  19,461 
      
Total assets   914,918  2,848,244 
      
Liabilities      
      
Current liabilities      
Trade and other payables   23,775  177,396 
Accrued liabilities   262,576  201,046 
Deferred compensation (note 6)   705,354  112,542 
      
Total liabilities   991,705  490,984 
      
Shareholders’ Equity      
      
Share capital (note 7)   60,256,945  60,256,945 
      
Contributed surplus   14,757,098  14,729,832 
      
Deficit   (75,090,830)  (72,629,517) 
      
Total shareholders’ equity   (76,787)  2,357,260 
      
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity   914,918  2,848,244 
      
Reporting entity and going concern (note 1)      
 
 
Approved by the Board of Directors   
   
“Scott Nelson” Director  “Eric W. Slavens” Director 
   
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 
     

Expenses and losses     
General and administrative (note 11)  1,739,911  2,061,569 
Research and development (note 11)  732,987  957,272 
Other operating expenses  7,088  15,267 
  2,479,986  3,034,108 
     
Other income     
Interest   (18,673)  (42,483) 
  (18,673)  (42,483) 
     
Net loss and comprehensive loss  2,461,313  2,991,625 
     
Basic loss per share (note 8)  0.04  0.05 
     
     
     
     

 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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(expressed in Canadian dollars) 

  
Share capital 

$  

Contributed 
surplus 

$  
Deficit 

$  

Shareholders’ 
equity 

$ 
         

Balance – September 1, 2014  60,256,945  14,729,832  (72,629,517)  2,357,260 
         
Net loss for the year  -  -  (2,461,313)  (2,461,313) 
         
Equity-based compensation  -  27,266  -  27,266 
         
Balance – August 31, 2015  60,256,945  14,757,098  (75,090,830)  (76,787) 

  
Share capital 

$  

Contributed 
surplus 

$  
Deficit 

$  

Shareholders’ 
equity 

$ 
         
Balance – September 1, 2013  60,104,658  14,248,259  (69,637,892)  4,715,025 
         
Net loss for the year  -  -  (2,991,625)  (2,991,625) 
         
Equity-based compensation  152,287  481,573  -  633,860 
         
Balance – August 31, 2014  60,256,945  14,729,832  (72,629,517)  2,357,260 
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 
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(expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 
Cash (used in) provided by     
     
Operating activities     
Net loss for the year  (2,461,313)  (2,991,625)
Items not affecting cash    

Depreciation  6,545  7,364
Equity-based compensation (note 7)  27,266  437,192
Deferred compensation (note 6)  592,812  112,542
Research tax credit  -  38,157
Government grant recovery  -  (34,074)

    
  (1,834,690)  (2,430,444)
Net change in non-cash working capital items    

Research tax credit receivable  177,843  101,071
Goods and services tax receivable  3,943  46,657
Prepaid expenses and other assets  19,552  17,244
Trade and other payables and accrued liabilities  (92,090)  (134,536)

    
  (1,725,443)  (2,400,008)
Investing activities    
Purchase of equipment  (1,110)  -
    
  (1,110)  -
Financing activities    
    
Government grant proceeds  -  875,208
    
Decrease in cash and cash equivalents  (1,726,553)  (1,524,800)
    
Cash and cash equivalents – Beginning of year  2,609,652  4,134,452
    
Cash and cash equivalents – End of year  883,099  2,609,652
     
 
 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements. 



Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended August 31, 2015 and 2014 
 
 

Titanium Corporation - 2015 Annual Report Page 42 
 
 

1 Reporting entity and Going Concern 

Titanium Corporation Inc. (the “Company” or “Titanium”) is a public company domiciled in, and governed by 
the laws of Canada. Titanium was formed upon the amalgamation of Titanium Corporation of Canada 
Limited and NAR Resources Ltd. under the Business Corporations Act (Ontario) on July 24, 2001. On March 
19, 2009 the Company was continued under the Canada Business Corporations Act. The Company does not 
have any subsidiaries. 

The Company’s principal business office is Suite 510,  840 6 Avenue, SW, Calgary, Alberta, T2P 3E5  and the 
Company’s registered office is located at Suite 2400, 525 8th Ave SW Calgary, AB T2P 1G1. The Company’s 
common shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Venture Exchange under the ticker symbol “TIC”. 

Titanium’s   mission is “Creating Value from Waste™” (“CVW™”). The Company has developed innovative 
CVW™ technologies that recover valuable heavy minerals, bitumen, solvent and water from oil sands waste 
tailings. The recovery of bitumen, associated solvents and water will result in important and timely 
environmental improvements for the oil sands industry. The Company has completed demonstration piloting 
which culminated several years of progressive research and development (“R&D”) of its proprietary 
technology. 

The financial statements are prepared using International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) that are 
applicable to a going concern which contemplates the realization of assets and settlement of liabilities in the 
normal course of business as they come due.  The Company is considered to be a development stage 
enterprise as it has yet to earn any revenues from its planned operations.  The Company is devoting 
substantially all of its efforts toward commercializing its proprietary technology.  The recoverability of 
amounts expended on R&D is dependent on the ability of the Company to complete pre-commercialization 
activities, commercialization at oil sands sites, and achieve future profitable operations. In addition, for the 
year ended August 31, 2015, the company reported a loss of $2.5 million and an accumulated deficit of $75 
million. The Company is dependent on raising funds through the issuance of shares, government grants 
and/or attracting partners in order to undertake further development and commercialization of its 
technology. These circumstances cast significant doubt on the ability of the company to meet its obligations 
as they come due and, accordingly, the appropriateness of the use of accounting principles applicable to a 
going concern.  While the Company has been successful in obtaining the necessary financing to develop the 
business to this point including recent loan facilities (note 15), there are no assurances that the Company will 
be successful in the future in these endeavors.   

An inability to raise additional financing or to achieve commercial operations, will impact the future 
assessment of the Company as a going concern.  These financial statements do not reflect the adjustments to 
the carrying values of assets and liabilities and the reported expenses and balance sheet classifications that 
would be necessary if the company were unable to realize its assets and settle its liabilities as a going concern 
in the normal course of operations. Such adjustments could be material.  

 
2 Basis of presentation  

These financial statements of the Company have been approved by the Board of Directors on November 25, 
2015. These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the Company’s functional 
currency. 
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The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) and IFRIC interpretations. The financial statements have been prepared under 
the historical cost convention except as detailed in the Company’s accounting policies disclosed in Note 3. 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the 
group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas where 
assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are disclosed in Note 3. 

3 Significant accounting policies 

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these 
financial statements. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgements 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires management to make critical 
accounting estimates and judgements that affect the amounts reported in the financial statements and 
accompanying notes. These estimates and judgements are continually evaluated and are based on historical 
experiences and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances. The resulting accounting estimates will, by definition, seldom equal the actual 
results. Management considers the following areas to be those where critical accounting policies affect the 
significant estimates and judgements used in the preparation of the Company’s financial statements. 

a) Fair value of stock-based compensation  

Determining the fair value of stock options requires judgement related to the choice of a pricing model, 
the estimation of stock price volatility, the expected term of the underlying instruments and the 
estimation of the risk free interest rate. 

Basis of measurement 
  

The financial statements have been prepared using the historical cost convention except for the 
measurement of equity-based payments, which are measured initially at fair value. 

  
Foreign currency 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is the functional currency of the 
Company. Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates 
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of 
foreign currency transactions and from the translation at period end exchange rates of monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in currencies other than the Company’s functional currency are recognized in the 
statement of loss and comprehensive loss in “other operating expenses”. 

Government grants 

The Company periodically receives financial assistance under Government incentive programs. Government 
grants are recognized initially as deferred revenue at fair value when there is reasonable assurance that they 
will be received and the Company will comply with the conditions associated with the grant. Grants that 
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compensate the Company for expenses incurred are recognized as an adjustment to research and 
development expense on a systematic basis in the same periods in which the expenses are incurred.  

Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on hand and bank balances net of outstanding cheques which have 
not cleared the bank at a period end.  

Equipment 

Equipment is recorded at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Cost 
includes expenditures that are directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. 

Depreciation is recorded on the declining balance basis at rates between 20% and 50% as appropriate for the 
type of equipment. 

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if 
appropriate. 

Research and development expenditures 

Expenditure on research activities, undertaken with the prospect of gaining new scientific or technical 
knowledge and understanding, is recognized in profit or loss when incurred. 

Where a product or process is technically and commercially feasible, production and sale are intended, a 
market exists, expenditures can be measured reliably and sufficient resources are available to complete the 
project, development costs are capitalized. No development costs have been capitalized to date.  

Share capital 

Common shares are classified as shareholders’ equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of 
common shares and share options are recognized as a deduction from shareholders’ equity, net of any tax 
effects.  

Equity-based award plan 

The Company has an equity-based award plan for its directors, officers, employees and consultants to 
encourage ownership of common shares and align the longer term interest of Company shareholders.  The 
equity plan is designed to advance the Company’s interests by providing additional incentives for plan 
participants and to retain and attract valued directors, officers, employees and consultants. The Company 
grants equity-based awards to officers, employees and non-executive directors at the discretion of the board 
of directors.  The associated equity-based compensation expenses are recognized as components of general 
and administrative and research and development expense.   

Income taxes 

Income tax expense comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax expense is recognized in profit or loss 
except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in shareholders’ equity or in other 
comprehensive income. 
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Current tax is the expected tax payable or receivable on the taxable income or loss for the period, using tax 
rates enacted or substantially enacted at the reporting date, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of 
prior years. 

Deferred tax is recognized with respect to temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred tax is 
measured at the tax rates that are expected to be applied to temporary differences when they reverse, based 
on the laws that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. Deferred tax assets and 
liabilities are offset if they relate to income taxes levied by the same tax authority on the same taxable entity.  

A deferred tax asset is recognized for unused tax losses, tax credits, and deductable temporary differences to 
the extent that it is probable that future tax profits will be available against which they can be utilized. 
Deferred tax assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer 
probable that the related tax benefit will be realized. 

Earnings (loss) per share 

The Company presents basic and diluted earnings (loss) per share (“EPS”) data for its common shares. Basic 
EPS is calculated by dividing the profit or loss attributable to common shareholders of the Company by the 
weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the period. Diluted EPS is determined by 
adjusting the profit or loss attributable to shareholders and the weighted average number of common shares 
outstanding, for the effects of all dilutive potential common shares. The Company’s potentially dilutive 
common shares comprise of equity based awards granted to its employees and directors. The number of 
common shares included with respect to equity awards are computed using the treasury stock method. 

Financial instruments 
Financial assets and liabilities are recognized when the Company becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument. Financial assets are derecognized when the rights to receive cash flows from the 
assets have expired or have been transferred and the Company has transferred substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership. Financial liabilities are derecognized when the obligation specified in the contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.  

Financial assets 

The Company may have the following non-derivative financial assets: financial assets at fair value through 
profit or loss, available-for-sale financial assets, held to maturity financial assets and loans and receivables. 
Management determines the appropriate classification upon initial recognition. All financial assets are 
initially measured at fair value plus, in the case of financial assets not at fair value through profit or loss, 
directly attributable transaction costs. 

a) Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 

A financial asset is classified at fair value through profit or loss if acquired principally for the purpose of 
selling or repurchasing in the short-term. Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are 
measured at fair value, and changes therein are recognized in profit or loss.  
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b) Available-for-sale financial assets 

Any investments in equity securities and certain debt securities are classified as available-for-sale 
financial assets. Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at fair value and changes therein, 
other than impairment losses and foreign currency differences on available-for-sale monetary items, are 
recognized in other comprehensive income. When an investment is derecognized, the cumulative gain or 
loss in equity is transferred to profit or loss. The Company has no assets classified as available-for-sale 
for the periods presented. 

c) Held-to-maturity financial assets 

If the Company has the positive intent and ability to hold debt securities to maturity, then such financial 
assets are classified as held-to-maturity. Held-to-maturity financial assets are initially recognized at fair 
value plus any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition held-to-maturity 
financial assets are measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment 
losses. The Company has no assets classified as held-to-maturity for the periods presented. 

d) Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are 
not quoted in an active market. The Company’s loans and receivables are comprised of cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts receivable, goods and services tax receivable and grant funding receivable.  Loans 
and receivables are initially recognized at the amount expected to be received, less, when material, a 
discount to reduce the loans and receivables to fair value. Subsequently, loans and receivables are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method less a provision for impairment. 

 
Financial liabilities 

The Company has the following non-derivative financial liabilities: trade and other payables and accrued 
liabilities.  Such financial liabilities are classified as other liabilities and are initially measured at fair value 
less any directly attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are 
measured at amortized costs using the effective interest method. 

Impairment 

e) Financial assets 

A financial asset is assessed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any objective evidence 
that it is impaired. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if objective evidence indicates that one 
or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future cash flows of that asset. 

An impairment loss in respect of a financial asset measured at amortized cost is calculated as the 
difference between its carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash flows 
discounted at the original effective interest rate.  

All impairment losses are recognized in profit or loss.  
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f) Non-financial assets 

Non-financial assets are tested for impairment when events or changes in circumstances indicate that 
the carrying amount may not be recoverable. For the purpose of measuring recoverable amounts, assets 
are grouped at the lowest levels for which there are separately identifiable cash flows (“cash-generating 
units” or “ CGUs”). Recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and value in 
use (being the present value of the expected future cash flows of the relevant asset or CGU, as 
determined by management). The Company evaluates impairment losses for potential reversals when 
events or circumstances warrant such consideration.  

New standards and amendments issued but not yet adopted 
 

Certain new standards, amendments to standards and interpretations are not yet effective for the current 
reporting period, and therefore have not been applied in preparing the financial statements. 

The Company has not yet begun the process of assessing the impact that the new standard will have 
on its financial statements: 
 
IFRS 9 – “Financial Instruments”, which is the result of the first phase of the IASB’s project to replace IAS 39 
– “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. The new standard replaces the current multiple 
classification and measurement models for financial assets and liabilities with a single model that has only 
two classification categories: amortized cost and fair value. The amendment is effective January 1, 2018. 

 
IFRS 15 – “Revenue from Contracts with Customers”. This amendment replaces the existing revenue 
standards and interpretations with a single standard and provides additional guidance on revenue 
recognition for contracts with customers. The amendment is effective January 1, 2018, with early adoption 
permitted. 
 
The Company is currently evaluating the impact of adopting these standards on its financial statements. 
 

4 Government assistance 

National Research Council of Canada - Industrial Research Assistance Program (“IRAP”) 

In 2012, the Company entered into a funding Contribution Agreement with National Research Council of 
Canada as represented by IRAP to assist with research costs related to a paraffinic tailings program 
conducted at the Canmet Energy research facility.  Since the inception of the project, the Company received 
$358,113 for qualifying project costs.  In the prior year, $34,074 was recognized as grant recovery and treated 
as a reduction of R&D expense.   The Company concluded the pilot project in the prior fiscal year.  

Scientific Research and Experimental Development (SR&ED) Tax Incentive Program  

The Alberta SR&ED tax credit program provides a refundable tax credit to qualified corporations that incur 
eligible R&D expenditures in the province of Alberta.  The Company received funds related to its 2013 claim 
in the amount of $177,843 on October 28, 2014.   
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5 Equipment 

  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 
     

Cost  97,290  97,290 
Additions  1,110  - 
Disposals    - 
Accumulated amortization  (84,374)  (77,829) 

     
Net carrying value  14,026  19,461 

 
6 Deferred Compensation 

In order to preserve cash, the Company made arrangements with its directors and officers to receive a 
portion of their cash compensation in the form of either Restricted Share Units (“RSUs’) or Deferred Share 
Units (“DSUs”).  The deferred compensation liability was recognized as the value of accrued and approved 
compensation.  Subsequent to year end, (see note 15(c)) the Company issued RSUs and DSUs for the 
settlement of approved deferred compensation of $551,484.  The remaining balance of $153,870, represents 
an estimated accrual for deferred compensation that will be approved and settled in the future. Upon 
settlement, the outstanding liability is reclassified to contributed surplus.  The vesting provisions, expiry date 
and the number of RSUs and DSUs to be issued remain subject to further determination of the Compensation 
Committee and shall be formally granted upon such determination.   

7 Share capital 

Authorized 
Unlimited number of common shares without par value have been authorized.  Details of share 
capital balances are as follows: 

 
  2015  2014 
         

  

Common 
shares 

#  
Amount 

$  

Common 
shares 

#  
Amount 

$ 
         

Balance – September 1  64,425,040   60,256,945  64,179,416  60,104,658 
Issued  pursuant to RSU plan  -  -  245,624  152,287 

         
Balance – August 31  64,425,040   60,256,945  64,425,040   60,256,945 

 
Equity-based compensation 
 
The Company has an Equity Plan for its directors, officers, employees and consultants to encourage 
ownership of common shares and align the longer term interest of Company shareholders.  The equity plan is 
designed to advance the Company’s interests by providing additional incentives for plan participants and to 
retain and attract valued directors, officers, employees and consultants. The Company grants equity-based 
awards to officers, employees and non-executive directors at the discretion of the board of directors.  The 
associated equity-based compensation expenses are recognized as components of general and administrative 
and research and development expenses.  The Company adopted a “rolling” equity-based plan to include 
stock options, deferred share units (“DSUs”) and restricted share units (“RSUs”).  The number of common 
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shares issuable under all such plans at anytime is limited to 10% (rolling) of the issued and outstanding 
common shares of the Company in the aggregate.  The revised equity plan was approved by shareholders on 
February 12, 2015 and the equity plan is subject to annual approval by the Company’s shareholders.   
 

 
The equity plan is comprised of the following components: 
 
a) Stock options  

Once a stock option is granted, the compensation costs for options granted is based on the estimated fair 
values of the options at the time of grant.  The cost is recognized as a component of general and 
administrative and research and development expenses over the vesting periods of the options with a 
corresponding increase to contributed surplus within shareholders’ equity.  Upon exercise of the stock 
option, both the consideration received and the fair value of the option are recognized as share capital.  

b) Deferred share units (“DSUs”) 

As part of the Company’s long-term incentives for non-executive directors, a deferred stock unit plan was 
established representing a component of director compensation. The award plan was initially established on 
April 29, 2013 as a cash settled plan.  On December 16, 2013 the Company revised the plan for the purpose of 
reducing cash expenses, whereby DSU awards would be settled with common shares.  The revised plan was 
approved by the Company’s shareholders on January 23, 2014. DSU awards vest immediately upon grant and 
are settled with the issuance of common shares when a director’s service ceases.  The compensation expense 
for DSUs awarded to non-executive directors is based on the fair values at the time the award is granted.  The 
fair value means, at any date, the higher of (i) weighted average price per share at which the common shares 
have traded on the TSXV during the last five (5) trading days prior to the relevant date and (ii) the closing 
price of the common shares on the date prior to the relevant date. The expense is recognized as a component 
of general and administration expense with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus within 
shareholders’ equity. Upon redemption, the fair value of the award is reclassified from contributed surplus to 
share capital.   

c) Restricted share units (“RSUs”) 

As part of the Company’s long-term incentives for officers and other key employees of the Company, the RSU 
plan provides participants with the opportunity to acquire RSUs in order to participate in the long term 
success of the Company.  The vesting schedule of RSU awards are specified by the Board of Directors on the 
grant date.  Once the award is vested, the RSU can be settled, at the option of the holder, with the issuance of 
the Company’s common shares. The compensation expense for RSUs awarded is based on the fair values of 
the award at the time of grant and amortized over the specified vesting period. The fair value means, at any 
date, the higher of (i) weighted average price per share at which the common shares have traded on the TSXV 
during the last five (5) trading days prior to the relevant date and (ii) the closing price of the common shares 
on the date prior to the relevant date.  The cost is recognized as a component of general and administration 
and/or research and development expense with a corresponding increase to contributed surplus, within 
shareholders’ equity.  Upon redemption, the fair value of the award is reclassified from contributed surplus to 
share capital.   
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Summary of stock based awards 
 
As of August 31, 2015, the Company was entitled to grant 6,442,504 stock based awards within the 10% 
rolling plan, of which 4,046,412 have been granted.  Of the total granted and outstanding as at August 31, 
2015, 3,658,400 were issued as stock options and 388,012 were issued as DSUs.  The components of stock 
based compensation are summarized below: 

Summary of stock options 
A summary of the Company’s stock option activity for the year ended August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2014 is 
as follows: 

  2015  2014 
         

  

Number of 
common stock 

options 
#  

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$  

Number of 
common stock 

options 
#  

Weighted 
average 

exercise price 
$ 

         
Outstanding – 

September 1  3,815,400   1.25  3,940,400   1.23 
Granted  -  -  -   - 
Options 

forfeited/cancelled  -  -  (75,000)   1.11 

Options expired  (157,000)  
 

0.45  (50,000)   0.21 
         
Options outstanding  3,658,400               1.28    3,815,400    1.25 
Options exercisable    3,658,400   1.28  3,648,734                1.26 
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The following table summarizes the options outstanding as at August 31, 2015: 
 

Range of  
exercise price  

Number of 
common 

shares 
#  

Weighted 
average 

remaining 
contractual 

life 
years  

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$  

Number of 
options 

exercisable 
#  

Weighted 
average 
exercise 

price 
$ 

           
0.00 – 0.99  700,000  0.08  $0.72  700,000  $0.72 
1.00 – 1.99  2,133,400  1.33  $1.19  2,133,400  $1.19 
2.00 – 2.99  825,000  0.40  $2.00  825,000  $2.00 

           
  3,658,400  0.88  $1.28  3,658,400  $1.28 

 

Stock-based compensation expense has been presented in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss as a 
non-cash component of research and development and general and administrative expense (note 11). The fair 
value of each stock option is accounted for in the statement of loss and comprehensive loss, over the vesting 
period of the options, and the related credit is recorded in contributed surplus. 

Summary of DSUs 
 
A summary of the DSU activity for the years ended August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2014 is as follows: 

  2015  2014 
         

  

Number of 
DSUs 

#  

Weighted 
average share 

price at time of 
grant 

$  

Number of 
DSUs 

#  

Weighted 
average grant 

price 
$ 

         
Outstanding – September 1  370,447   0.90  333,330   0.90 
Granted:         

November 30  7,006   1.16  14,664   0.51 
February 28  10,559   0.94  12,096   0.62 
May 31  -  -  5,787   1.79 
August 31  -   -  4,570   2.03 

         
DSUs outstanding  388,012   0.91  370,447   0.90 
         

 
Summary of RSUs  

 
On December 16, 2013 RSUs were awarded to executive officers in lieu of $152,287 cash compensation. The 
vesting of the awards were aligned with shareholder approval of the RSU plan at the Company’s annual 
general meeting on January 23, 2014.  Following the approval by shareholders, the RSUs were released and 
245,624 common shares were issued by the Company.   
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A summary of the RSU activity for the years ended August 31, 2015 and August 31, 2014 is as follows: 

  2015  2014 
         

  

Number of 
RSUs 

#  

Share price at 
time of 

grant/release 
$  

Number of 
RSUs 

#  

Share price at 
time of grant 

$ 
         

Outstanding – 
September 1  -   -  -   - 

Granted   -   -  245,624   0.50 
Released – shares 

issued  -   -  (245,624)   0.62 
         
RSUs outstanding  -   -  -   - 

 
Equity based compensation expense related to stock awards for the years ended August 31, 2015 and August 31, 
2014 is as follows: 
 

     

  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 
     

Stock options – G&A  5,990  162,884 
Stock options – R&D  3,226  79,262 

  9,216  242,146 
Deferred share units (DSUs)  18,050  42,760 
Restricted share units(RSUs)  -  152,287 
Equity-based compensation expense  27,266  437,193 
     
Equity-based compensation by nature (note 11)     
Equity-based compensation – G&A  24,040  357,931 
Equity-based compensation – R&D  3,226  79,262 
  27,266  437,193 

 
8 Basic and diluted loss per share 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding 

As the Company incurred losses for the years ended August 31, 2015 and 2014, the impact of potentially 
issuable common shares upon the exercise of options would be anti-dilutive, therefore basic and diluted loss 
per share are the same. 
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The following table sets forth the reconciliation of basic and diluted loss per share: 

  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 
     

Net loss and comprehensive loss  2,461,313  2,991,625 
     

Weighted average number of common shares for 
basic and diluted loss per share  64,425,040  64,327,463 

     
Basic and diluted loss per share  0.04  0.05 

     
 
Income taxes 

The tax recovery on the Company’s loss before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using 
the weighted average tax rate applicable to losses of the entity as follows: 

  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 
     

Net (loss) before income taxes  (2,461,313)  (2,991,625) 
     
Tax calculated at applicable statutory rates applicable to loss 

(25.33%)  (623,451)  (747,906) 
     
Change in temporary differences for which no deferred income 

tax asset was recognized  1,4414,344,  1,475,498 
Stock-based compensation expense not deductible for tax 

purposes  157,086  109,298 
Other expenses not deductible for tax purposes  686  947 
Tax return to provision adjustment    (1,050,783) 
Re-measurement of deferred tax – impact of substantively 

enacted rates  (948,665)  212,946 

Tax recovery  -  - 

The weighted average applicable rate was 25.33% (2014 – 25.0%). The increase in rate is due to a legislated 
increase of 2% in the provincial statutory corporate tax rate as of July 1, 2015.  Deferred income taxes are 
computed at 27%.The movement in deferred income tax assets and (liabilities) during the year is as follows: 

Deferred tax asset 
(rounded 000$)  

At September 1, 2014 
  

13,652,000  

Statutory rate change effect 
  

1,092,000  
Current year change (1,414,000) 

At August 31, 2015 
  

13,330,000  
Asset not recognized (13,330,000) 
Net deferred tax asset - 
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Deferred income tax assets are recognized for loss carry-forwards and other deductible temporary differences 
to the extent that the realization of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. Based on 
this test, the Company did not recognize deferred income tax assets of $13,330,000 (2014 – $13,652,000) in 
respect of tax losses and other deductible temporary differences amounting to $49,373,000 (2014– 
$54,349,000) that can be carried forward against future taxable income.  

The components of the unrecognized deferred tax asset are as follows:  

Components of deferred tax assets: 
Deferred tax asset 

(rounded 000$)  
Capital assets (tangible and intangible)                        903,000  

SR&ED expenditures 
  

5,605,000  
Capital and non-capital losses 6,822,000 

At August 31, 2015 
  

13,330,000  
Deferred tax asset not recognized (13,330,000) 
Net deferred tax asset - 
 

The Company did not recognize the benefits of non-refundable federal research and development investment 
tax credits (“ITCs”) amounting to $4,824,000 (2014 - $4,824,000).  These tax credits can be carried forward 
against future federal income tax payable.  

The non-capital losses and non-refundable research and development tax expenditures will expire as follows: 

 

Federal non-
capital loss 

carry-
forwards 

$  

Alberta non-
capital loss 

carry-
forwards 

$  

Federal 
investment 
tax credits 

$ 
      

2023 -  -  91,000 
2024 -  -  551,000 
2025 -  -  231,000 
2026 3,556,000  3,556,000  473,000 
2027 1,737,000  1,737,000  300,000 
2028 -  -  279,000 
2029 4,193,000  4,193,000  517,000 
2030 3,114,000  3,114,000  861,000 
2031 4,877,000  4,877,000  1,026,000 
2032 2,274,000  2,274,000  182,000 
2033 652,000  652,000  313,000 
2034 2,773,000  2,773,000  - 
2035 2,093000  2,093000  - 
      

 25,267,000  25,267,000  4,824,000 
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9 Segmented information 

Operating segments 

The Company has one reporting segment engaged in researching and developing a separation process for the 
recovery of heavy minerals and bitumen from oil sands froth treatment tailings. As the operations comprise a 
single reporting segment, amounts disclosed in the financial statements represent those of the single 
reporting unit. In addition all of the Company’s equipment is located in Canada.  

 
10 Expenses by nature 

General and administrative expenses consist of the following: 

  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 
     

Compensation and benefits  608,120  491,114 
Deferred compensation expense (note 6)  340,574  106,146 
Equity-based compensation (note 7)  24,040  357,931 
Investor relations and regulatory  100,287  116,193 
Consulting and professional fees  413,153  542,248 
Directors’ fees  94,172  216,310 
Travel  57,015  92,647 
Rent, insurance and office  102,550  138,980 
     

  1,739,911  2,061,569 
 
Research and development expenses consist of the following: 
 

  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 
     

Pilot plant, rent and other  179,310  485,712 
Compensation and benefits  298,213  381,819 
Deferred compensation expense (note 6)  252,238  6,396 
Equity-based compensation (note 7)  3,226  79,262 
Government grant recovery (note 4)  -  (34,074) 
Research tax credits  -  38,157 

     
  732,987  957,272 
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11 Compensation of key management 

Compensation awarded to key management(i) included: 

  
2015 

$  
2014 

$ 
     

Salaries and short-term employee benefits  906,333  817,833 
Equity-based compensation  27,266  437,193 
Directors’ fees  94,172  216,310 
Deferred compensation expense  592,812  112,542 
     

  1,620,583  1,583,878 
 (i) Key management includes all directors and officers of the Company. 

12 Financial instruments and financial risk factors 

The Company has for accounting purposes, designated its cash and cash equivalents, research tax credit 
receivables, goods and services tax receivable, and government grant receivable  as loans and receivables. 
Trade and other payables and accrued liabilities are classified for accounting purposes as other financial 
liabilities. 

As of August 31, 2015, the Company estimates that both the carrying and fair value amounts of the 
Company's financial instruments are approximately equivalent because of the short-term nature of the 
assets. 

The Company has classified the financial instruments measured at fair value in accordance with a 
three level hierarchy. The hierarchy groups financial assets and liabilities into three levels based on 
the significance of inputs used in measuring the fair values of the financial assets and liabilities. The 
fair value hierarchy has the following levels: 

 
(i) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 
(ii) Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 

asset or liability either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices); and 
(iii) Level 3: inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data 

(unobservable inputs). 
 
The level within which the financial asset or liability is classified is determined based on the lowest 
level of significant input to the fair value measurement.  The Company’s cash and cash equivalents 
has been subject to level 2 valuation.  Assessment of the significance of a particular input to the fair 
value measurement requires judgment and may affect the placement within the fair value hierarchy. 

 
Financial risk 

The Company’s activities expose it to a variety of financial, credit, liquidity and market risks, including 
interest rate and foreign exchange rate risks. 
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Financial risk management is carried out by the Company’s management team with guidance from the Audit 
Committee and the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors also provides guidance for enterprise risk 
management. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of loss associated with a counterparty’s inability to fulfill its payment obligations.  The 
Company’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash and cash equivalents and government grant 
receivables.  Cash and cash equivalents are held with Schedule I Canadian Chartered banks which are 
reviewed by management.  Management believes that the credit risk concentration with respect to financial 
instruments is minimal. 

 
Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not have sufficient cash resources to meet its financial 
obligations as they come due.  The Company’s approach to managing liquidity risk is to ensure that it will 
have sufficient liquidity to meet liabilities when due by monitoring actual and projected cash flows. The 
Board of Directors reviews and approves the operating plan as well as any material transactions outside the 
ordinary course of business.  The Company is dependent on raising funds through the issuance of shares, 
government grants and/or attracting partners in order to undertake further development and 
commercialization of its technology (note 1).  As at August 31, 2015, the Company had aggregate cash and 
cash equivalents of $883,099 (2014 - $2,609,652) to settle current cash settled liabilities of $160,205 (2014 - 
$378,442).  Most of the Company’s financial liabilities have contractual terms of 30 days or less.  

Market risk 

Market risk is the risk of loss that may arise from changes in market factors such as interest rates and foreign 
exchange rates. 

a) Interest rate risk 

The Company’s current policy is to invest excess cash in interest bearing cash accounts, bankers' 
acceptances and guaranteed investment certificates issued by Schedule I Canadian banks.  The Company 
periodically monitors its investments and the creditworthiness of the banks it holds investments in. As 
at August 31, 2015, the Company has no bankers’ acceptances, guaranteed investment certificates or 
interest-bearing debt. 

b) Foreign currency risk 

The Company’s reporting and functional currency is the Canadian dollar and most purchases are 
transacted in Canadian dollars.  Some research and development expense is denominated in US dollars 
and to a lesser extent Australian dollars.  The Company does not hold any significant balances in foreign 
currencies to give rise to exposure to foreign exchange risk. Any impact from fluctuations in foreign 
exchange rates would be minimal and therefore the Company does not hedge its foreign exchange risk. 
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13 Capital management 

The Company considers its shareholders’ equity as its capital, which at August 31, 2015 totalled $(76,787) 
(2014 – $2,357,260). The Company does not have any bank debt or externally imposed capital requirements 
except those described below under the subsequent events, loan facilities. The Company’s capital 
management objectives are to manage its cash and cash equivalents prudently; to minimize the expenditures 
on general and administrative costs to ensure funds are available to continue to advance the 
commercialization of an oil sands project; and to access available government funding for research and 
development.  

Management reviews its capital management approach on an ongoing basis and believes that its current 
approach, given the relative size and stage of the Company, is appropriate. There were no changes in the 
Company's approach to capital management during the year ended August 31, 2015. Refer to note 1 for a 
discussion of material uncertainties that may impact the company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

14 Subsequent Events 

a) Syncrude Agreements 

On October 1, 2015 the Company announced agreements with Syncrude Canada Ltd. (“Syncrude”) 
providing for the co-ownership of one of Titanium's patents and the first right for Titanium to propose 
commercial recovery of heavy minerals at Syncrude sites.  The purpose of these agreements was to 
provide clarity on overlapping technology interest and outline a framework for implementation of the 
Company’s technologies, with Syncrude focused on bitumen recovery and our company on minerals 
recovery. 

b) Loan Facilities 

On October 13, 2015 the Company announced that it had entered into loan agreements (the "Loan 
Agreements") with with Mossco Capital Inc., an affiliated Canadian resident corporation controlled by 
Mr. Moss Kadey ("Mossco") and David Macdonald, two of its independent directors (together, the 
"Lenders") pursuant to which the Lenders agreed to lend to the Company the aggregate principal amount 
of up to $1,500,000 (collectively, the "Loans"). The Loans, when drawn, are repayable in full by Titanium 
to the Lenders on October 9, 2017. Titanium may permanently repay all or part of the Loans at any time 
without notice or penalty. Mossco agreed to advance up to $1,000,000 and Mr. Macdonald agreed to 
advance up to $500,000. The proceeds from the Loans are to be used for general corporate purposes as 
approved by the Company's Board of Directors in its annual budget. Interest accrues on the Loans at the 
rate of 12% per annum from the date of advance, standby fees at the rate of 3% per annum on any 
undrawn balances of the Loans (both payable monthly), and drawdown fees of 2.0% at the time of  each 
advance of $500,000. Titanium's obligations in respect of the Loans will be secured by a general security 
agreement granted by Titanium to each Lender under which Titanium will grant security interests over 
all of its present and after-acquired personal property and a floating charge over all of its real property. 
Titanium and the Lenders will also enter into an intercreditor agreement to confirm the pari passu 
ranking of the Loans and security, including the right to payment, priority of security and realization in 
respect of security. In connection with the loans, Titanium issued 750,000 non-transferable common 
shares purchase warrants to the Lenders which were allocated proportionally on the basis of their 
committed amounts. Each warrant entitles the holder to acquire one common share of Titanium at a 
price of $1.35 per Common Share prior to October 9, 2017.  The warrants, and underlying common 
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shares, are subject to a four-month hold period from the date of issuance, which expires on February 9, 
2016.   

 
c) Deferred Compensation 

On October 22, 2015 the Company announced that it had issued restricted share units ("RSUs") and 
deferred share units ("DSUs") of the Company under each of the Company's shareholder approved 
restricted share unit plan (the "RSU Plan") and deferred share unit plan (the "DSU Plan"), respectively 
for the settlement of an aggregate of $551,484 in deferred compensation.  The Company issued 380,616 
RSUs to officers for settlement of $422,484 of deferred compensation liability and 116,217 DSUs to non 
executive directors for settlement of $129,000 of deferred compensation liability.  As a result of the 
issuance of these equity awards, the deferred compensation liability was reduced in aggregate by 
$551,884 and the corresponding credit was included as contributed surplus. 
 

d) Stock Option Exercise 

On October 27, 2015, the Company announced that management and directors of the Company 
exercised 700,000 stock options expiring on October 28, 2015. These stock option transactions injected 
$506,000 into the Company. In connection with these transactions, officers and directors sold 418,300 
common shares, from their underlying stock option exercises (358,300) and pre existing holdings 
(60,000), to fund the payment of the exercise prices and applicable taxes payable. Management and 
directors acquired and held an additional 266,700 common shares of the Company. 
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This annual report contains forward-looking statements and information that reflects the current expectations of management 
about the future results, performance, achievements, prospects or opportunities for Titanium.  Forward-looking information is 
provided in this annual report in the discussion of Titanium’s research and development results and the expected benefits of 
Titanium’s technology and results of the implementation of Titanium’s technology on a commercial scale.  These statements 
generally can be identified by use of forward-looking words such as “may”, “will”, “expect”, “estimate”, “anticipate”, 
“believe”, “could”, “might”, “intend”, “project”, “should” or “continue” or the negative thereof or similar variations and 
expressions.  Forward-looking information is presented in this annual report for the purpose of assisting readers in 
understanding certain key elements of our business plan and results of the research and development phase of our technology, 
as well as our objectives, strategic priorities and business outlook, and in obtaining a better understanding of our anticipated 
operating environment.  Readers are cautioned that such information may not be appropriate for other purposes. 

Forward-looking information, by its very nature, is subject to inherent risks and uncertainties and are based on several 
assumptions, both general and specific, which give rise to the possibility that actual results or events could differ materially 
from our expectations expressed in or implied by such forward-looking information and that our business outlook, objectives, 
plans and strategic priorities may not be achieved.  In particular, the forward-looking information contained in this annual 
report is based (in whole or in part) on the results of our research, pilot programs and studies described in this annual report.  
The Company has not commercially demonstrated its technologies and there can be no assurance that such research, pilot 
programs, and studies will prove to be accurate as actual results and future events could differ materially from those expected 
or estimated in such forward-looking statements.  As a result, we cannot guarantee that any forward-looking information will 
materialize and we caution you against relying on any of this forward-looking information. Accordingly, readers should not 
place undue reliance on forward-looking information.  

In addition to other factors and assumptions which may be identified in this annual report, assumptions have been made 
regarding, among other things: future oil and zircon prices and the impact of lower prices on activity levels and cost savings 
of oil sands producers; the impact of increasing competition; the general stability of the economic and political environment 
in which the Company operates; the ability of the Company to enter into commercial contracts with oil sands producers and 
to achieve commercialization of the CVW™ technology; the ability of the Canadian and Alberta Governments to see through 
their announced climate change initiatives; the ability of the Company to retain qualified staff; the ability of the Corporation 
to obtain financing on acceptable terms; the translation of the results from the Company’s research, pilot programs and 
studies into the results expected on a commercial scale; the ability to obtain and maintain the Company’s intellectual 
property; currency, exchange and interest rates; the regulatory framework regarding royalties, taxes and environmental 
matters in the jurisdictions in which the Company operates; and the ability of the Company to successfully market its 
CVW™ technology. 

In particular, this annual report contains forward-looking statements pertaining to the following:  

  the commercialization of the CVW™ technology; 
  the benefits of the CVW™ technology on a commercial scale and the translation of the benefits of the  
  CVW™ technology from pilot performance to commercial performance;  
  the potential environmental benefits of the CVW™ technology, including reductions in greenhouse gas  
  emissions and volatile organic compound emissions; 
  the anticipated cost savings benefits of the CVW™ technology; 
  anticipated operating costs after implementation of the Company’s technology; 
  the creation of a new minerals business; 
  the utilization of hydrocarbon free hot water for recycling and hydrocarbon free tailings for thickening; 
  anticipated minerals concentration in tailings following implementation of the CVW™ technology; 
  negotiations with oil sands producers with respect to adopting the technology; 
  supply and demand for oil; 
  expected market impacts on oil sands operators and the minerals industry; 
  the Company’s ongoing participation with the Alberta and Federal Governments with respect to climate  
  change initiatives and the alignment of the Company’s technology with the Alberta and Federal   
  Governments’ objectives; and  
  the anticipated reduction of solvent losses in bitumen production. 
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The actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a result of, including 
but not limited to, the following risk factors:  
 
  ability to obtain commercial contracts with oil sands producers; 
  oil sands producers adopting and integrating the CVW™ technology with their operations; 
  expectations regarding the ability of the Company to raise capital;  
  risks and uncertainties associated with the Company’s CVW™ technology to operate on a   
  commercial scale;  
  volatility in market prices for oil;  
  liabilities inherent in oil operations;  
  competition for, among other things, capital and skilled personnel;  
  incorrect assessments of the value of the Company’s research and development program;  
  operational execution or technical difficulties in connection with operating the CVW™ technology; 
  fluctuations in foreign exchange interest rates and stock market volatility; 
  uncertainties associated with changes in legislation including, but not limited to, changes  in income tax  
  laws and to oil and natural gas royalty frameworks;  
  ability to obtain and maintain intellectual property, including patents for the CVW™ technology;  
  inadequate protection of the Company’s intellectual property or potential litigation with respect to any  
  intellectual property infringements;  
  the impact of Canadian federal and provincial governmental regulation on the Company and the oil and  
  natural gas industry; 
  the impact of Alberta and/or Federal Governments changing focus away from climate change initiatives; 
  competition for the development of similar technology; 
  expected future oil sands production and bitumen losses; 
  prospective results of operations, financial position or cash flows that are based on assumptions about  
  future economic conditions and courses of action; 
  ability to obtain government grants and funding; and  
  risks and uncertainties associated with liquidity and capital resources. 
  
Readers are cautioned that the foregoing lists of assumptions and risk factors are not exhaustive. For addition descriptions of 
the assumptions and risks underlying the forward-looking statements in this annual report, consult Titanium’s management’s 
discussion and analysis for the year ended August 31, 2015 dated November 27, 2015 included with this annual report and in 
other reports filed with the securities regulatory authorities in Canada from time to time and available on SEDAR 
(www.sedar.com). 
 
The forward-looking information contained in this annual report describes our expectations as of January 7, 2016 and, 
accordingly, are subject to change after such date.  Except as may be required by Canadian securities laws, we do not 
undertake any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking information contained in this annual report whether as a 
result of new information, future events or otherwise. The forward-looking statements contained in this annual report and are 
expressly qualified by this cautionary statement.  

 



 
 

Titanium Corporation - 2015 Annual Report Page 62 
 
 

CORPORATE INFORMATION 

DIRECTORS 

Gordon Pridham1 
Chairman and Director 
 
Moss Kadey2 
Director 
 
David C.W. Macdonald1 
Director 
 
Scott Nelson 
Director 
 
Brant G. Sangster2,  
Director 
 
Eric W. Slavens, FCPA, FCA1 
 Director 
 
1  Member of the Audit Committee 
2   

Member of the Compensation and Corporate         
Governance Committee  
  
 

MANAGEMENT 

Scott Nelson 
President & Chief Executive Officer 
 
Jennifer Kaufield, CPA,CA 
Vice President Finance & Chief 
Financial Officer 
 
Kelsey Clark 
Corporate Secretary 
 
Dr. Kevin Moran 
Vice President Process Development 
 
John Oxenford 
Vice President Oil Sands Operations 
 

 
 
 
 
 
 

AUDITORS                                     
PWC 
Suite 3100 
111 5th Avenue, SW 
Calgary, Alberta 
Canada T2P 5L3 

 
 

    LEGAL COUNSEL 
Burnet Duckworth & Palmer LLP 
2400, 525  8th Avenue, SW 
Calgary, Alberta 
Canada T2P 1G1 

 
 
 
 
 

 
SHAREHOLDER INFORMATION 
 
Titanium Corporation welcomes inquiries from shareholders, analysts, media representatives and other 
interested parties. Questions relating to investor relations or media inquiries should be directed to: 
 
Investor Relations: Scott Nelson  403.561.0439 or by email: snelson@titaniumcorporation.com 

Jennifer Kaufield  403.874.9498 or by email: jkaufield@titaniumcorporation.com 
 
 
Shareholders’ questions relating to address changes and Share certificates should be directed to 
Titanium Corporation’s Transfer Agent: 
 
TMX Equity Transfer Services, 200 University Avenue, Suite 300, Toronto, Ontario. M5H 4H1 
 
T: 416.361.0152                        TF: 866.393.4891                 F: 416.361.0470 
Investor Inquiries: TMXEInvestorServices@tmx.com   
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